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Guangdong Lee & Man Paper
BRI SE A

Planned annual  2.95 million tons of
capacity: paper
HEIFER : 2958 MAM

Guangdong Lee & Man Paper

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper
REEEAS

Existing annual 730,000 tons of paper
capacity:
WIFFER: 738MEA

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper

Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper

IEHEER

Existing annual ~ 1.57 million tons of
capacity: paper

WIFFERE: 157 & WA 4%

Chonggqing Lee & Man Paper
ERENER

Planned annual 800,000 tons of paper
capacity: and 180,000 tons of pulp
FTEIFER ©  SOBMAAK K185 Wik
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AFEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive director

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 8ss jp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Lee Man Bun

Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gss sp
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)

Independent non-executive director

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Chau Shing Yim David

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Yoshio Haga

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Kunihiko Kashima

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)
Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s /P
Mr Cheung Kwok Keung

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

DNEEH (&)

REGISTERED OFFICE TSR

Cricket Square Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681 P.O.Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111 Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL OFFICE BWER

5th Floor, Liven House ch

61-63 King Yip Street NLEBE

Kwun Tong WEEF61-63%

Kowloon F#E RESHE

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS FEFRIRIT

In Hong Kong: B8

Hang Seng Bank BAERTT

Standard Chartered Bank BT IRTT

Citibank, N.A. ETEIRTT

HSBC ELIRIT

DBS ERIRTT

In the PRC: HE

China Construction Bank PRI ERRIRTT

Bank of China FREERTT

Agricultural Bank of China PEIRZERIT

AUDITOR 3Gl

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu =& o BEMRT S5TAEITT

Certified Public Accountants HEEEAD

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND FERMDBFERLRE
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited

Butterfield House Butterfield House

68 Fort Street 68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 705 P.O.Box 705

George Town George Town

Grand Cayman Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR ERRMBFERDE
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited PERHFELERAA]

26/F Tesbury Centre B .

28 Queen’s Road East LR ARNBR285

Hong Kong SEET L 261E

WEBSITE #8 4k

http://www.leemanpaper.com http://www.leemanpaper.com
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Revenue

L'ON
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5-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FEPBHHRE

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HLEFE

2011 2012
S -
HK$'000 HK$'000
77 [T

14,034,285 MLWAEELE]

1,984,126 1,536,751
(136,147) (185,302)

1,847,979 1,351,449

1,847,979 1,351,449

1,847,979 1,351,449

2011 2012
bl —ET-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT

23,074,465 BPIWLYKIEE]
(10,774,652) IMUERLYRYII)]

12,299,813 EEXEPAE]

12,299,813 EXEPAE]

2008 2009 2010
—TTN\FE C"TTNF C"T-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T FHET
RESULTS ES
Revenue WA 8,996,113 9,649,365 11,099,263
Profit before tax R A 2 7 1,499,146 337,470 2,070,198
Income tax expense MEHTH (68,026) (37,111) (236,893)
Profit for the year FERF 1,431,120 300,359 1,833,305
Attributable to: FEfh
Owners of the Company N/NCIE DN 1,441,329 302,117 1,833,305
Non-controlling interests IR (10,209) (1,758) —
1,431,120 300,359 1,833,305
At 31 March
R=BA=+—-H
2008 2009 2010
“PEN\F —ETAF -2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FErT FET
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY &7 - BERER
Total assets BERE 17,014,989 18,676,559 19,710,472
Total liabilities BEHE (8,980,680) (10,209,714)  (9,559,626)
8,034,309 8,466,845 10,150,846
Equity attributable to owners of AARHEAA
the Company ity 8,044,611 8,466,845 10,150,846
Non-controlling interests SRR (10,302) — —
Total equity EmiE 8,034,309 8,466,845 10,150,846

12,299,813 EEXEPAE]
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

EEHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW AND OUTLOOK
Business Review

We are very pleased to share with you that the Group achieved
revenue of HK$14,716 million for the year ended 31 March 2012
which was slightly increased by 4.9% as compared to last year. The
net profit for the year was HK$1,351 million and was decreased by
26.9% as compared to last year. At as 31 March 2012, the Group'’s
net gearing ratio was 65% as a result of the capacity expansion. The
Board considers this to be a healthy and reasonable debt level.

Our new production lines, PM 15 and PM 16 have been started in
August 2011 and November 2011 respectively; PM 17 (the
production line of coated duplex board) will commission production
in July 2012. The Group has begun construction of its fifth paper
production industrial park located at Ruichang City of Jiangxi
Province, which will allow it to capture the demand for quality
containerboard in the central and western part of China. PM18, our
production machine at Jiangxi plant, is under construction and is
expected to begin operation by March 2013. Within the responsible
debt level, the Group will constructively expand its production
capacity in order to create favorable conditions in future

development.

EBOERRESE
X EIRE

AEBEBE—_TE——_F=A=+—HILF
BZWAB14716BB T » BEFEMY
ER49% - 2FFFER13.51EHT
LEAFT#26.9% - HRERERE - N=
T——_F=-A=+—H £EFAEEBEXRAE
65% ' EEERAZERKF A FIE -

PM15RPMIGEHKE RN T ——FN
AR+—RAERIKZE ' PM172EIRK
SESUERAFEAKRE - SBHRIER
mEEMRNIEEIRETMMEAMERT
¥E - ARG BAFREBEDEELRR
R 2 F K o T E HIPM181E 4K # TF
fEEER  EHBER-_ZE—Z=ZF=ZAf%
B HRAIAZHNNEBKET - KEER
BRER  RIEREREIESRFEHE -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EFEHmE (&)

Outlook

Impacted by external whirlwinds, such as the faltering US and Europe
economy and the sovereign debt crisis in Europe; both the
performance of the domestic and export market are unsatisfied.
Though the Group has been expanding its production capacity, its
average selling price has been decreased. The Group was not fully
able to pass through the increase in salaries and corresponding
production cost to its customers. Hence the existing business
environment is still difficult. The Group will continually control costs
closely, spreading our production plants in China and expanding its
production capacity. When the economy of the global market
improves, the Group will be able to deliver better returns to the

shareholders.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick

Chairman

Hong Kong
12 June 2012
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DA

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2012 was HK$14,716 million and
HK$1,351 million, representing an increase of 4.9% and a decrease
of 26.9% respectively, as compared to HK$14,034 million and
HK$1,848 million, respectively, for last year. The basic earnings per
share for the year was HK28.82 cents when compared with HK40.13
cents for last year.

Paper machines PM15 & PM16 were commissioned during the year.
The Group's containerboard sales volume was slightly increased while
the average selling price was comparable to last year. The substantial
increase in the price of waste paper, coal and other raw materials has
boosted the operating costs and therefore lowered net margin per
tonne.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group's distribution and selling expenses was HK$236 million for
the year ended 31 March 2012 as compared to HK$209 million for
the year ended 31 March 2011. It represented about 1.6% of the
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2012 and was slightly increased
as compared to that of 1.5% for the year ended 31 March 2011.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
16.5% from HK$520 million for the year ended 31 March 2011 to
HK$606 million for the year ended 31 March 2012 as a result of the
expansion in the operation of the Group and the increase of the staff
costs during the year.

TR LK e g
REXE

m=R

HE T —FZAZ+—HIFERXN
WARKXRARHEEABGEHEF S5 A
147 16 B T R13.51EBTT » BEFH
140348 T 18.48 B » #73I EFA
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENRE D (&)

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's finance costs was HK$100 million for the year ended 31
March 2012 as compared to HK$207 million for the year ended 31
March 2011. The average interest rate on bank borrowings of the
Group decreased during the year, and also the Group monitored the
discounting of bills closely in order to reduce the finance costs.

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS" AND CREDITORS'
TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 80 days and 17 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 March 2012 as compared to 82 days and 16 days, respectively,
for the year ended 31 March 2011.

The Group's debtors’ turnover days were 52 days for the year ended
31 March 2012 as compared to 49 days for the year ended 31 March
2011. This is in line with the credit terms of 45 days to 90 days

granted by the Group to its customers.

The Group'’s creditors’ turnover days were 78 days for the year ended
31 March 2012 as compared to 61 days for the year ended 31 March
2011. The creditors’ turnover days were expected to improve going
forward given the Group’s higher bargaining power in light of the

industry consolidation.

1 7 A AR
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEN®E D (&)

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 March 2012 was
HK$13,498 million (31 March 2011: HK$12,300 million) . As at 31
March 2012, the Group had current assets of HK$9,130 million (31
March 2011: HK$8,384 million) and current liabilities of HK$6,106
million (31 March 2011: HK$5,120 million)
1.50 as at 31 March 2012 as compared to 1.64 at 31 March 2011.

. The current ratio was

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong, Macau and the PRC. As at 31 March 2012, the Group
had outstanding bank borrowings of HK$9,559 million (31 March
2011: HK$7,989 million)
corporate guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the

. These bank loans were secured by

Company. As at 31 March 2012, the Group maintained bank
balances and cash of HK$731 million (31 March 2011: HK$1,228
million) . The Group’s net debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net
of cash and cash equivalents over shareholders’ equity) increased

from 0.55 as at 31 March 2011 to 0.65 as at 31 March 2012.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to

meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group's transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi or United States
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 March 2012. The
Group has used currency structured instruments, foreign currency

borrowings or other means to hedge its foreign currency exposure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEENBE DT (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had a workforce of about 7,700
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour
market and economic situation. The Group also provides internal
training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance
and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its
employees.

The Group has a share option scheme whereby employees of the
Group are granted options to acquire shares in the Company.

MN-ZZE——H€=ZA=+—0  A&EEAEH
7,700 ET - EEFHMMAERNAEBRFE T
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IHEREETRBE - NEBE S AES
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IR IR - ARBARR AN
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EhlE

TRE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The Board of the Company believes that
sound and reasonable corporate governance practices are essential
for the growth of the Group and for safeguarding and maximising
shareholders’ interests. During the year under review, the Company
has complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver

sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely

receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and difference persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-
day operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management, the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012,
the accounting principles and practices adopted and discussed

auditing, internal controls, and financial reporting matters.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2012. The Model
Code also applies to other specified senior management of the
Group.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive directors:

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s jp

Mr Lee Man Bun

Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Non-executive directors:
Professor Poon Chung Kwong G8s jp
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)

Independent Non-executive directors:
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond and Mr Lee Man Bun are the son of Mr
Lee Wan Keung Patrick.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

During the year, the Board comprises of four executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), two non-executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management

expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business

operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly

identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment

within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed
before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

ExelhEFZ Rz e LEmEEE
BIREZWERE  MEERVERED
BIE =& XM RAARE F Foa s 1R
RWEHR  FEREGUNARRBEMNEL
BRERHIE -

FRN CHARZRESS  BEFHER
MEEFIET

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEng HEEE FRARH
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick BRI 4/6
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 885 Jp BXEREmeHEE A THL 6/6
Mr Lee Man Bun OB E 6/6
Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEALCELE 6/6
Professor Poon Chung Kwong G8s Jp BRHNABIR 2 LHEE KT+ 6/6
Mr Yoshio Haga FEREBLE 2/6
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony TRIE LA 6/6
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Daviest 4 6/6
Mr Chau Shing Yim David BEE St 6/6

Each newly appointed director receives formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to
ensure proper understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory

requirements.

Directors are continually updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of
their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional

development for directors will be arranged where necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current
members include:

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Yoshio Haga

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms
of reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were approved and adopted on 28 March 2012 to
conform to the provisions of the Code and the Listing Rules, a copy
of which is posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group’s financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a
review of the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2012.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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During the year, four Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FA-AERAODREZZESSH @ @5
RE®HFEBERFINNAT :

Number of attendance

Name of member REHR HERE
Mr Chau Shing Yim David EAEK T & 4/4
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRURESE 4/4
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies o & 4/4
Mr Yoshio Haga FEEBELE 1/4

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the
current members include:

Mr Chau Shing Yim David (Chairman)
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Kunihiko Kashima

The Remuneration Committee has adopted the approach under
paragraph B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and advises and makes
recommendations to the Board on the Group’s overall policy and
structure for the remuneration of directors and senior management.
The Remuneration Committee ensures that no director or any of his
associate is involved in deciding his own remuneration. The terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee were approved and
adopted on 28 March 2012 to conform to the provisions of the
Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in
the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all
members have attended in the meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 28 March 2012 and

meetings have not yet been held during the year.

The Nomination Committee comprises five members include:

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)
Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the Board composition, developing and formulating relevant
procedures for nomination and appointment of directors, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and succession
planning of directors, and assessing the independence of the

independent non-executive directors.

The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of expertise,
skills and experience appropriate for the requirements of the business
of the Company.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, Mr Chau Shing Yim
David, Mr Peter A Davies and Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony, shall retire by
rotation and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the

next forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Nomination Committee recommended the re-appointment of
the directors standing for re-election at the next forthcoming annual

general meeting of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the auditor of the Company only
provided audit services to the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is
committed to implementing an effective and sound internal controls
system to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s
assets. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the system of internal controls and reviewing of
all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk

management function within an established framework.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2012, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website

of the Company.

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the

Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual

report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder

meetings, including the election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each

shareholder meeting.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

TtEHEER

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Over the years, the Group has been fully committed to environmental
protection. The management implemented various measures and
controls to ensure that our duties to the environment have been
fulfilled. Our production plants are built in compliance with all the
international environment management standards and we have
employed the most effective form of technology to ensure the Group
to be one of the most environmentally friendly companies in the
world. To ensure all the measures are carried out properly, the
management has set up an Environmental Protection Division
personally led by the Chief Executive Officer and a team of qualified
professionals. Periodic internal control meetings are held to review
the environmental issues in the production plants, to update any
environmental laws and regulations and to make valuable
suggestions and recommendations for improvement. In the next five
years, the Environmental Protection Division will put more effort to
ensure high environmental standards are persistently met in the key
areas of production process, waste water treatment, water and

energy consumption and emission control.

Environmentally-Friendly Production Process

The Group's advanced production machines are designed to enable
high usage of recovered paper during the production process. One of
the Group’s long term objectives is to increase the usage of waste
paper and to decrease the usage of virgin pulp. Currently, our paper
is produced at 97% recycling rate (i.e. 97% of paper fibers are
recyclable materials) and we have one of the highest recycling rates
among all containerboard manufacturers globally. To ensure a stable
supply of recovered paper, we have several sourcing teams globally
and we have also sponsored a number of partners in China to collect
waste paper, which not only create jobs locally but also make the

surrounding area more environmentally friendly.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)
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Water Consumption and Waste Water Treatment
Plant

Water consumption is highly dependent on the effectiveness of the
wastewater treatment processes and the amount of global change
water reclaimed in the production process. To minimise water
pollution in the production process, the Group currently employs the
world’s most effective wastewater treatment technology for paper
industries, namely a two stage anaerobic/aerobic bio-treatment and a
flotation process, which results in wastewater discharged at its
highest standards set by the national environment bureau. Our COD
("Chemical Oxygen Demand”) discharge is at or below 80mg/l, while
the national discharge standard is at 100mg/l. More importantly, by
recycling wastewater in our production process, we reduce
significantly the water consumption to less than 10m?® per ton of
paper produced and this is approximately one-eighth of the national

average.

Energy Consumption

Another long term objective of the Group in environmental
protection is to reduce the energy consumption. The Group has
arranged to replace high energy consumption motors batch by batch
to frequency controlled type. Investment will usually be paid back in
about 3 years, and after that even more remarkable savings in energy
and cost will be achieved. In addition, we make use of the methane
generated in the anaerobic treatment of waste water and some solid
waste to help combustion in the coal-fired power plants and save
fuel consumption. Better management is another important element
in generating power more efficiently and consume less energy in the
paper making process. Currently, we operate at 0.42 ton of standard
coal per ton of paper produced and our target is to reduce to less
than 0.40 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced in the next
five years. This level is substantially less than the national average of

0.68 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced.
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Emission Control

Reducing energy consumption leads to less emission. All our coal-
fired power plants are installed with particulate filtration and
desulphurisation equipment and the discharge emission is always
monitored on-line, ensuring the emission levels are met with the
national regulatory requirements. For instance, the sulphur dioxide
(SO2) emission in our plants is less than 200mg/m?, well below the
national standard of 400mg/m?®. Moreover, we are setting up the
most advanced Wet Scrubbing desulphurisation systems in
Guangdong and Jiangsu plants which will further reduce sulphur

dioxide emission to about 100mg/m?>.

HUMAN RESOURCES STRATEGY

At Lee & Man Paper, we believe that our staff are the most important
resources and their well-being, growth and performance are tied
tightly to the group’s success. To create a pleasant working and living
environment, the Group has carried out various actions to review and
improve policies and facilities continuously. Moreover, the Group also
pays high concern on its staff's career development. Through a
carefully designed internal training system and continuous effort in
identifying potential talents, the Group aims to help its staff develop
multi-skills capability, enrich knowledge, and craft a career path that
can unleash their potentials and elevate their values to satisfy their
growth needs and to better align with the Group’s strategy and
growth.

BER BEPREE R

B AV 8L IR AR D BE R o S B IR B
ERHEREMNBBERBEITEE - Bt
RS EREMTRERERERE @« BIR
PHUKEREFEBERBEER - 24 -
MEHZEMEBENE BB HK2002
U BEREREBEEET T KI00Z
7o JbAN - REIEERREMNIGKEEH
WA R MERABRR R SR EGEE
E— G EBERERZET LKL
100Z 5% °

AN E TR RS
EXERBEE BEINARAKEENE

EBIW@EE REERREREHMNK
WEER - REZ —EFEMNTIERE
ARE - REE - ERNREERRER
B e wEHN  KRETEEETEBR T TR
AR o BRBLRTHABBEIIEE R
THEREABEOAN  SEHEANIR
FHEIWTITEMBEMEEETHRZ @A
e ST ARBEEME - B HIE
B EASENEERE —EXE-

BIGEMARAT 2011/12 F4R 25



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)
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Caring Our Staff

With staff well-being as one of our core values in managing human
resources, Lee & Man Paper is committed to providing employees
with pleasant work environment and rich personal lives. We believe
that only through building a satisfied and committed workforce we
can, as a team, achieve sustainable development and success. Our

management is open to listen to our staff’s voice and suggestions.

The Group always reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living
environment to the staff. The Group also devotes lots of effort in
organising cultural events and recreational activities to enrich the
lives of its staff and their families. Being in the Lee & Man Paper big
family, we have set up a financial aid scheme helping staff and their
families directly during the rough times such as sicknesses and

accidents.

Career Development

As Lee & Man Paper understands that the growth of its staff equals
the growth of the Group, we pay great attention in helping staff to
acquire new skills and knowledge to better fit with the Group’s
strategy. To meet with the global trend for multi-skills talent and to
encourage lifelong learning, every year the Group has organised a
series of internal training programs as well as subsidising staff to
study further. With the Lee & Man Paper’s performance management
system, together with the Group’s continuous effort in identifying
talents, capable staff are selected to enter our management trainee
programme global changes that aims to set new heights to their
career path. The Group has also sent students to Guangzhou’s South
China University of Technology for a two-year diploma course on
paper making technology that are fully funded by the Group and
students are placed into various positions after graduation.
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AWARDS AND CERTIFICATIONS

Lee & Man Paper has always been committed to being a model
enterprise with a keen sense of social responsibility, consecutively
received government environmental protection awards and accolades,
gaining the recognition and endorsement from the community. To
demonstrate our past efforts in protecting the environment, all of our
existing plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Chongging have
been awarded the 1ISO14001 certification for environmental
management. In addition to the ISO14001 certification, our plants
have also been granted the ISO9001 certification for quality
management and Chain of Custody Certificate by Forest Stewardship
Council (FSC-COC), it proved that we have been committed to the
exploration of mutual development between paper making and
protecting the forests. In November 2009, we were awarded the
Hong Kong-Guangdong Cleaner Production Partner (Manufacturing).
Since 2009, the Group is certified as the “Top 10 Enterprises of Paper
Industry in China light Industries” by China Paper Association for 3
years. Nowaday, our Hongmei, Jiangsu and Huangyong plants have
been accredited as High and New Technology Enterprises, Cleaner
Production Enterprise, Harmonious Labour Relations Enterprise in
paper industry by the respective province. Besides, Hongmei plant
has been recognised by Guangdong Province as Provincial-level
Enterprise Technology Centre, it fully embodies our investment in
research and development and technology. Our Chongging plant has
been accredited as Ecological Improvement and Environmental
Protection, “Top 10 Strong Business Enterprises” and “Top 10
Enterprise of Excellent Economic & Export Performance” by

Chonggqing City.
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To provide a safety working place is very crucial to us. Our Hongmei,
Jiangsu and Huangyong plants were granted with OHSAS 18001
certification for Occupational Health & Safety, demonstrating our
commitment in caring about employee safety and quality of working
environment. The certifications ensure that we have taken various
measures to improve efficiency of internal operations and
consequently reduce accidents, danger and downtime as well as

ensuring our compliance with current legal requirements.

Furthermore, our plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu and Huangyong have
also been awarded IECQ QC080000 certification for Hazardous
Substance Process Management. This certification provides
confidence to our customers that our products are compliant, and

that do not contain prohibited substances.

Over the years Lee & Man Paper have made numerous donations and
we have received many awards from governmental authorities to
confirm our past contribution towards the industry and the society as
a whole.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEkEREEE[FN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, aged 68, Chairman of the Company
and founder of the Group, is in charge of senior staff recruitment,
staff management, corporate strategy, building construction and
public relations for the Group in the PRC. He has over 48 years of
experience in manufacturing and international trade. Mr Lee is the
former standing member of the Political Consultative Committee of
Guangdong Province and former chairman of Hong Kong Hainan
Commercial Association. He is now the honorary principal of the
Qionghai Jiaji Secondary School and Hainan Guoxing Secondary
School. He has also been awarded honorary citizenship of Dongguan.
He was conferred the Degree of Doctor in Business Administration,

honoris causa, by Lingnan University in October 2011.

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 41, CPPCC National Committee,
BBS JP, Chief Executive Officer, as well as founder of the Group, is
primarily in charge of corporate planning, investment projects and
acquisition of heavy production machines. Mr Lee has over 18 years
of experience in operation paper manufacturing, professional formula
of paper making and product development. Mr Lee holds a
Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science in Electrical Engineering from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. He is currently involved
in a number of public engagements and has been awarded honorary
citizenship of Dongguan and reputational citizenship of Changshu.
Mr Lee was the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2002”
and “2003 Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Selection
Awardees”. He is an independent non-executive director of the listed
company, Bossini International Holdings Limited, He is the eldest son
of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the Chairman of the Company.

HITES

FEREE 68 ARBEFELALE
BImA - AESABECEE  £1E 28
HIEAEE 2K EETRLGERRS
BHERARERR -FTEERAAN+
NFEHEZERBERE S &5 - RARER
BERBEERASEEEE R REEM
ERETERERRNBHEREPER
BRE  IRRE=MREMTR - R_F—
—F+ A FREBREHABRREET
[ECRE =T

FNBREE 4 REBIHEE - WX
HMEE KTt ARABEFERTE
NRAASEEMA  BEAEREERS
3 REFBRENHSBE -FREHR
ERERAA T\ F2ELR  WEMAXE
MEXEANERREREEELER - F
TERAMEARBIBLERBEMAH
SERIRELEM - REEEZER
B YRERR=MREADRENR -
FREBBRI —ETZ_FEFTFILEXK]
RIZEZ=FFBTAELEFF] - W
SETRREHEBREESRAREL
FHITEF - FRELERARAIFEFTER
TEZRT -

BYEMARAT 2011/12 £ 29
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ESIRSREEEEN (F)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conTinuED)

Mr Lee Man Bun, aged 31, the member of the Political Consultative
Committee of Guangdong Province and also the Chairman of the
44th terms of Yan Chai Hospital Board of Directors, is an Executive
Director and General Manager of the Company, is responsible for
assisting the Chairman in production management, sales, daily
operation, research & development, repair and maintenance of
production machines and factory staff management. Mr Lee holds a
Bachelor's Degree of Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from
the University of British Columbia in Canada. He is the youngest son
of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, the Chairman of the Company.

Mr Kashima Kunihiko, aged 52, an Executive Director of the
Company. He was the General Manager of corporate planning at
Nippon Paper Group Inc, (“Nippon Paper”, the shares of which are
listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange, Osaka Securities Exchange and
Nagoya Stock Exchange) and has over 30 years of experience in
corporate planning, human resources, and accounting and finance in
the paper industry. He has experience in various roles within Nippon
Paper, including corporate planning, human resources, and
accounting and finance. He has been involved in most major merger
and acquisition transactions and post merger restructuring projects
within the Nippon Paper, including the merger between Jujo Paper
Co Ltd and Sanyo Kokusaku Pulp Co Ltd, the merger between Jujo
Paper Co Ltd and Daishowa Paper Manufacturing Co Ltd, the
acquisition of Australian Paper by Nippon Paper and the business

collaboration with the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, aged 72, GBS JP, a Non-executive
Director of the Company, is the Chairman of Virya Foundation
Limited (a registered non-profit charitable organisation). He is the
President Emeritus of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and has
over 41 years of experience in the educational sector. He was
appointed Non-official Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989; received the
OBE in 1991 and the Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002 and the
Honorary Doctorate Degree in Humanities by The Hong Kong

Polytechnic University in 2009.
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EIREREEEEN (F)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conTiNUED)

Mr Haga Yoshio, aged 62, Vice Chairman and a Non-executive
Director of the Company, has over 38 years of experience in the
paper industry and was the Chairman of the Japan Paper Association
between May 2008 and May 2010. He is the President and the Chief
Executive Officer of Nippon Paper. He has spent the majority of his
time in production management, with experience in research and
development, as well as corporate planning. As the head of the
corporate planning division of Nippon Paper, he led the “Group
Vision 2015"” initiative in cost reduction activities and large scale
capital expenditure projects and has focused on the business
expansion of Nippon Paper both domestically and overseas. The
overseas expansion projects he has led for Nippon Paper include the
alliance with SCG Paper Public Company Limited, the alliance with
Yuen Foong Yu Paper Mfg, Co Ltd, the acquisition of Australian
Paper and the business collaboration with the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 69, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,
Solicitors and Notaries.

Mr Peter A Davies, aged 69, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, is a retired lawyer. He has over 41 years of
experience in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a
barrister in England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a
partner of Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and
the head of the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice
of Hong Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong
in 1974.
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EENREREEERN (8)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr Chau Shing Yim David, aged 48, an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. He has over 20 years of experience in
corporate finance. He was formerly a partner of one of the big four
accounting firms in Hong Kong, heading the Merger and Acquisition
and Corporate Advisory Services. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Securities Institute, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England
and Wales ("ICAEW") with the Corporate Finance Qualification
granted by ICAEW, and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr Chau was an ex-committee member of
the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. He is an executive director of Ocean
Grand Holdings Limited, a non-executive director of Up Energy
Development Group Limited and an independent non-executive
director of Shandong Molong Petroleum Machinery Company
Limited, Varitronix International Limited, Evergrande Real Estate
Group Limited and Man Wah Holdings Limited, all of which are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 45, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group and Company Secretary of the Company, is responsible
for the internal supervision, management of the Group's financial
matters and investor relationship. Mr Cheung is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and has over 23 years of experience in the field of auditing,
accounting and financial management. Mr Cheung holds a
Professional Diploma in Accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is also an independent non-executive
director of Sheng Yuan Holdings Limited and China Aoyuan Property
Group Limited; both are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He joined the Group in August
2002.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EENREREEERN (8)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTINUED)

Mr Li King Wai Ross, aged 37, is the Deputy General Manager of
the Group, is responsible for the global procurement of recovered
paper businesses as well as maintaining relationship of various
government departments in Dongguan. He holds a Master’s Degree
in Science in Electrical Engineering from Stanford University in USA
and a Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science in Computer Engineering
from University of British Columbia in Canada. He has over 9 years of
experience in production management and in technological research
& development. He was the Assistant General Manager of the Group
during December 2002 to January 2010; he rejoined the Group in
September 2010.

Mr Lee Ho Chung Jude, aged 37, is the Senior IT Manager of the
Group, is responsible for developing and executing the corporate IT
strategy. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Applied Science in
Mechanical Engineering from University of Toronto in Canada and
has over 12 years of experience in IT supervision of multinational

companies. He joined the Group in October 2011.

Mr Yan Jean Goo, aged 46, is the General Manager of Guangxi Lee
& Man Paper, is responsible for the business development of the
Group. He holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Economics from the
University of Xiamen and has over 24 years of experience in
production and operation management. He joined the Group in
November 2006.

Mr Chan Kong Sang, aged 52, is the Manager of power stations of
the Group, is responsible for the set up and operation of various
power plants. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree of Science in Engineering
from the University of Hong Kong and has over 29 years of
experience in operation and managing production and engineering
aspects of manufacturing businesses. He joined the Group in January
2001.
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ESIRSREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTINUED)

Mr Yip Heong Kan, aged 41, is the Deputy General Manager of the
Group, is responsible for cost controlling, corporate management
and Vietnam project. He holds a Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from Open University of Hong Kong, is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and
an associate member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 18 years of experience in auditing &
accounting and corporate financial management. He joined the
Group in June 2008.

Mr Chu Kwok Lung, aged 50, is the Administration Manager of
Dongguan Lee & Man Paper, is responsible for the daily operation
and management of Dongguan Lee & Man Paper and has over 27
years of experience in manufacturing. He joined the Group in June
2006.

Ms Lam Sau Ping, aged 43, is the Sales Manager of the Group, is
responsible for sales and marketing. She holds a Higher Certificate in
Marketing and Sales Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and has over 22 years of experience in sales and marketing.
She joined the Group in March 1996.

Mr Tse Pak Kong, aged 49, is the Senior Manager of the Group, is
responsible for the global procurement of recovered paper
businesses. He holds a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Electrical
Engineering from the University of Hong Kong and has over 25 years
of experience in the management of both multinational and local

companies in China. He joined the Group in December 2005.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
£

=

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial

statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the

consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page
47.

The directors of the Company recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK5.2 cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2012
to the shareholders on the register of members on 9 August 2012,
amounting to approximately HK$244 million in aggregate, subject to
the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial

statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$3,257 million for the purpose of
expanding its business. Details of the movements in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note

14 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 8ss sp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Lee Man Bun

Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Non-executive directors

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas jp
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Chau Shing Yim David

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Wong
Kai Tung Tony, Mr Peter A Davies and Chau Shing Yim David retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick and Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond have
each entered into a service agreement with the Company for an
initial period of three years commencing 1 September 2010, which
will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by
three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Lee Man Bun has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 16 August
2010, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by
either party by three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Kunihiko Kashima was appointed for an initial period of three
years commencing on 30 June 2010, which will continue thereafter
unless and until terminated by either party by three months’ prior
written notice.

The term of office of the non-executive directors and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his
retirement as required by the Company’s Articles of Association.
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EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS EERFZETBAERKRAZRE
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT BESHHEENERZ AR
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2012, the interests of the directors and the chief W-T——F=A=+—H EFKIE
executives and their associates in the shares, underlying shares and TTERAEBRKREFZHAALTHEARARF K
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations, as  H BB EE (FE& B EHF RIS EOI([F
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to 7 M HIE &A1) FE + R #6) KBy - 1
section 352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”), or as B REFHF - B AR RIRIEEF & 5
otherwise notified to the Company and pursuant to the model Code ~ & 1& P 352517 B < & i M Frac &k 2 1
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, the Stock — # @ SUREBEF BB E X HPAER QA ([ H
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) were as X FT]) BB FHBETAERTETESRRH

follows: MIREFAIE MEARRF KB P a
W

Long positions Hr

(@) Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company (a) AAFEAR0.025F LKL B

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares the issued

subject to share capital

Number of options granted of the Company

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares RHENBERER EAQTESRT

HEME 54 EZEREE TRHZSBERHAE REBDL

Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled 2,536,710,000 — 54.09%

ES R corporation (note)
B EE A ()

Lee Man Chun Raymond  Beneficial owner — 40,000,000 0.85%
FXE BEndEEA

Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner — 26,666,668 0.57%
308 EnEAA

Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 586,000 — 0.01%
BT BERdEAA

Wong Kai Tung Tony Beneficial owner 600,000 — 0.01%
FRUR EnEAA

note: These shares were held by Gold Best Holdings Ltd (“Gold Best”). Gold Mizk - % % AR {9 B Gold Best Holdings Ltd

Best is a controlled corporation of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick under the ([GoldBest )5 - RIFEFFRHAE

SFO. The entire issued share capital of Gold Best is owned by Mr Lee Wan &% - Gold Best B FTER T4 2 1%

Keung Patrick, who is also a director of Gold Best. #|%5 @ o Gold Bestz & ¥f 2 & 17 IR 2

MFERLERE K INARGold Best

ZE=E-
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS EERFETHAERRASE
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT BREREENEZRARE (&)
SECURITIES (conTinuED)

Long positions (Continued) HE(E)
(b)  Ordinary shares of the associated corporation of the (b) AREEBEENEBER
Company
Percentage of
the issued
share capital of
Name of Number of  the associated
associated ordinary corporation
Name of director Capacity corporation shares {GEEEEE
BEEgE 514 HEEE AR ZERHE RIOTRETESL
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial owner Gold Best 100 100%
ES e BB A

Save as disclosed above and other than certain nominee shares in & E XA BEEINER T E TEERUER
subsidiaries held by certain directors in trust for the Company, none FERARA ARG FEH B R ANE FTREA
of the directors or chief executives or their associates had any %N RZE——F=A=+—H &
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or E%F ~ T2TBRABREFHBE AL
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as ~ MEFEZAR A 7l sk K [ 8EOEE @D - 48
at 31 March 2012. AR KESS EEEAERIAE -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note

28 to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share

option scheme during the year:

Exercise price

BB

AR A BT BB N B 5 R M

Fr28 o

TREBARABEREFIRFAZE

& :

Number of shares in
the Company to be
issued upon exercise
of the share options
RERERTERKT
BITNERQBAROEE

Outstanding at
1 April 2011 and

per share 31 March 2012
BRITHEE Exercisable —ZE——&MA—AK
Name Date of grant HK$ period —E-—F
HE RHBH BT ISR =ZA=+—HAEKRTHE
Directors
=
Lee Man Chun Raymond 5.9.2008 1.872 1.9.2010 to 31.8.2013 40,000,000
FXE
Lee Man Bun 5.9.2008 1.872 1.9.2010 to 31.8.2013 26,666,668
R
66,666,668

The closing prices of the Company’s shares on the dates of grant of
5 September 2008 was HK$1.67.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above,
at no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities
(including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that, at 31 March 2012,
other than directors and chief executives, the following shareholders
had notified the Company of the relevant interests in the issued

share capital of the Company.

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

FERR

BIERREIRES REAEGKRIE3I361KE
GEZXERRECMARE R —
—HF=ZA=+—H8 THBRR(EEEE
Eﬁﬂz/\%[ﬁ%%)Eiﬂﬁﬁ”‘ﬂ?ﬁzﬁﬁ’é$
NAIEBITIRAF S 2 kR

R

AT EFI0.02578 T H) @AY

Percentage of the

Number of issued issued share capital

ordinary shares held of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity HAECRT ERRTCRT

REREE 14 ZEREA BRABDL

Gold Best Beneficial owner 2,536,710,000 54.09%

EmlEEA

Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (note i) 2,536,710,000 54.09%

TEEI BEERFA ()

Nippon Paper Group Inc Held by controlled corporation 718,515,679 15.32%

HARZUKES (note ii)

B HEE R A ()
Dyna Wave Holding Asia Beneficial owner (note ii) 718,515,679 15.32%
Ea=EA A BT

notes: B3 -

(i) Under the SFO, Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested in these (i) RIEFSHLBEEEG  ARTEBRBREFTER
2,536,710,000 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a (GoldBestEmEA A) MBS - R A%
beneficial owner of Gold Best. H:%2,536,710,0000% &A% A9 ©

(ii) Dyna Wave Holding Asia is wholly owned by Nippon Paper Group Inc. (i) DynaWave Holding Asia A B AR EEHE &

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company as at 31 March 2012.

A -

B EEN  ARARBERMNEN -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). The Company considers all

of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
the unqualified letter from the auditor and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group were in
the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal commercial
terms, or on terms no less favorable than terms available to or from
independent third parties, and in accordance with the terms of the
agreement governing such transactions that are fair and reasonable

and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

%éiﬁi (IIE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conminueD)

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. In the
opinion of the independent non-executive directors, these

transactions entered into by the Group were:
(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i)  either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there is no
available comparison, on terms that were fair and reasonable

so far as the shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(iii)  either (a) in accordance with the terms of the agreements; or (b)
where there are no such agreements, on terms no less
favourable than those available to or from independent third
parties; and

(iv)  within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the Stock

Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance

with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, no contracts of significance to which the Company, its
holding company, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were approximately 71% of the Group’s total
purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest

supplier were approximately 27% of the Group's total purchases.

The aggregate sales during the year attributable to the Group'’s five
largest customers were less than 5% of the Group's total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital

of any of the Group's five largest suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 March 2012.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Article of Associations, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to

existing shareholders.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance and medical cover and share options are also

provided.

The determination of emoluments of the directors of the Company
has taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$400,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong

12 June 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

18 M % A ¥

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE & MAN PAPER
MANUFACTURING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 47 to 148,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2012, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BYZHMES (&)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2012
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

12 June 2012
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AEZEWE

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Z —Z—

ZFE=RA=1—HIFE

2012 2011
—B—=fF —ET——%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FfaE THET FAT
Revenue A 5 14,715,553 14,034,285
Cost of sales EER= N G ) (11,452,435)
Gross profit el 2,063,444 2,581,850
Other income H A A 6 429,827 335,883
Share of profit of a jointly controlled  JE{} 712 4| & 4%
entity ("JCE") ([HEEHZE]D AT 6 —
Reclassification of cumulative loss RSP B IR R E N
from hedging reserve upon early HE R REEENDE
repayment of hedged item RitEiE (15,981) —
Net gain from fair value changes of ~ $T4 4@ T E A&
derivative financial instruments BE)F U 1,630 3,138
Distribution and selling expenses S NEEER (236,405) (209,429)
Administrative expenses THRER (605,869) (519,991)
Finance costs B 7% B AN 7 (99,901) (207,325)
Profit before tax i %52 A1) &2 7] 1,536,751 1,984,126
Income tax expense FEH S H 8 (185,302) (136,147)
Profit for the year FEREF 9 1,351,449 1,847,979
Other comprehensive income Ep 2wl
Exchange differences arising on BREBINCEEEZ
translation of foreign operations bE N Z5E 388,750 582,506
Net adjustment of hedging reserve WE S EEEEFSESE
reclassified to profit or loss B2 F AR 52,361 61,611
Other comprehensive income for FEEAM
the year 2E R 441,111 644,117
Total comprehensive income for the  FE 42 2\ U
year 1,792,560 2,492,096
Profit for the year attributable to: BIEFERA
Owners of the Company KABEB A 1,351,449 1,847,979
Total Comprehensive income G -
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KABEB A 1,792,560 2,492,096
HK cents HK cents
7l il
Earnings per share st 13
— Basic -ER 28.82 40.13
— Diluted -8 28.61 39.25
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ma BRI &

At31 March 2012 R-_F——F=ZHA=4+—H

Notes
BaE
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Wz BB REE 14
Prepaid lease payments FENHEE A 15
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEME Jﬁ?ﬂ%& 16
property, plant and equipment and 5 8 Ko i (50 R A
land use rights Fifdal &
Interest in a JCE HENEH BB ER 17
Loan to a JCE ,\HT B E XK 17
Tax recoverable AT Y = 7 I8
Retirement benefit assets RIKBFIEE 26
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories FE 18
Prepaid lease payments FENHEERE 15
Trade and other receivables FEWE 5 Kk E M BR 19
Amounts due from related companies & Uk B:&E N 7] 20 IE 20
Derivative financial instruments PTESHITA 24
Tax recoverable AT 4R [ 7 TH
Restricted bank deposits SRR HIRITIFER 21
Bank balances and cash WITHEHREIRS 21
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Derivative financial instruments TESBMIA 24
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 Rk E MR 22
Amount due to a substantial e EZERERIA 20
shareholder
Tax payable FESBEIE
Bank borrowings RITEE 23
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EERERRBAER

LIABILITIES
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2012
—E—C—F
HK$'000
FRET

16,923,134
494,704

143,213
25
9,400
39,670
988

17,611,134

3,124,245
10,956
5,241,830
19,531
867

972
731,498

9,129,899

9,434
3,127,287

7,626
66,159
2,895,518

6,106,024

3,023,875

20,635,009

2011

—T—5F

HK$'000
TAT

13,953,105
471,121

225,237

14,690,047

2,966,738
9,873
4,075,048
22,271
809
80,614
949
1,228,116

8,384,418

46,530
2,315,304

54,393
2,703,696

5,119,923

3,264,495

17,954,542



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

REPBRR R (&)

At31 March 2012 R-_F——F=ZHA=4+—H

2012 2011
N T 7
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
MI5E FHExT FET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Derivative financial instruments PTESRMTA 24 — 9,456
Bank borrowings RITHEE 23 6,663,795 5,284,910
Deferred tax liabilities BEIERIBAE 25 473,001 360,363
7,136,796 5,654,729
13,498,213 12,299,813

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR#E
Share capital R& K 27 117,241 117,241
Reserves #HE 13,380,972 12,182,572

13,498,213 12,299,813

The consolidated financial statements on pages 47 to 148 were $47E F148BFEHNGA MK HRRE P
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 12 —ZF——F XA+ _HREKESIH ERK

June 2012 and are signed on its behalf by: HHE WHTIIEERKRES:
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Z&Eig Lee Man Chun Raymond ZE3X &
Chairman %% Director &%
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GERRBHE

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZE-—F——4#F=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LA SN

Share
Share Share  options Translation  Hedging Capital Legal Special Other  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve contribution reserve reserve reserve profits equity
BE  ROEE BRERE EXRE  HWEE  HEM ER0RE  BARBE  RMRE  SEBER ERsE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tt Tt Tk Tt Tk Tt Tt Tk Tk Tk T

(note v) (note i) (note il (note iii) (note iv)
(Bizkv) (R E) (Fsk)  Osdi) (Bshw)

t 1 April 2010 “Z-ZENA-A 13,770 4,357,745 62,581 846,196 (113,972) 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,0600 4,886,936 10,150,846
Exchange differences arisingon ~ B/NEBBEREFEEL

translation of foreign operations  EXEE — - — 582,506 - - - - - — 582,506
Net adjustment on hedging HATATRLTES R

instruments in cash flow hedges ~ %:3% - - - - 61,611 - - - - — 61,611
Other comprehensive income for the #E £t 2ENE

year — — — 582,506 61611 — — — — — 644,117
Profit for the year FERT - - - - - - - - — 1847979 1,847,979
Total comprehensive income for ~ FE#2EIE

the year — — — 582,506 61,611 — — — — 1847979 2,492,09%
Exercise of share options {1 RamRE 3471 266,847 (65,289) - - - - - - 65289 270318
Recognition of equity-settled share i &5 8 RiE (1308

based payments 2 — — 32,046 — — — — — — — 32,046
Dividends paid (note 12) EE(HE12) — — — — — — — — —  (645493) (645493
At 31 March 2011 “EZ——E£=f=1-H 17241 462459 29338 1,428,702 (52,361) 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,0600 6,154,711 12,299,813
Bxchange differences arisingon BN ERERERES L

translation of foreign operations ~ EXEE — - — 388790 - - - - - — 388750
Net adjustment of hedging reserve 15t EEEHHEZE

reclassified to profit or loss B2 - - - - 52,361 - - - - — 52,361
Other comprehensive income for —~ FEEf2ENZE

the year — — — 388,750 52,361 — — — — — M
Profit for the year FEET - - - - - - - - — 1,351,449 1,351449
Total comprehensive income for ~ EEB2ENE

the year — — — 388,750 52,361 — — — — 1,351,449 1,792,560
Recognition of equity-settled share mei*ﬁﬁz ES R

based payments E — — 6,112 — — — — — — — 6,112
Dividends paid (note 12) /)E MT& - - - - - - - - — (600272 (600,272)
At 31 March 2012 “E--#=f=1-H 117,241 4,624,592 35450 1,817,452 - 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,0600 6,905,888 13,498,213

50 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2011/12 Annual Report



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

W

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Z — =&

notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

EREEFH R (F)
—CEZ A —AUFE

The capital contribution arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in a prior period
to a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group'’s ultimate holding company.

In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the
Company'’s subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of
the annual net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the
subsidiaries, until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. This
reserve is not distributable to the shareholders.

The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of the
aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group pursuant to the
corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued for the acquisition.

In October 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 10% equity interests in each
of two subsidiaries from their non-controlling shareholders at an aggregate
consideration of US$35. The excess of the carrying amount of the net liabilities
acquired over the fair value of the consideration paid has been debited directly to
equity.

During the year, the hedge accounting was discontinued due to early repayment
of the underlying bank borrowings. Accordingly, the relevant cumulative balance
of the hedging reserve were reclassified to profit or loss.

i -

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

BB MASEREERAR —REEN
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ETERIRTER
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AL FERMBEITHRMDEENER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MERETMER

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

2012 2011
—2——F —E——fF
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
MI5E F#ET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Profit before tax AT &N 1,536,751 1,984,126
Adjustments for: PR
Amortisation of prepaid lease TEH R E IR 8
payments 9,081 8,485
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BENMREZITE
equipment 556,765 544,096
Finance costs B 5 Ak 2K 99,901 207,325
Gain on disposal of an associate BB A Az Was 31 — (21,731)
Interest income FB WA (14,168) (12,501)
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEME BE LRE
and equipment g} 4,785 1,169
Net gain from fair value changes of PTESRMITENFEES
derivative financial instruments U E (1,630) (3,138)
Return on retirement plan assets BIRAERFHEIE E [ 3R (74) (72)
Share-based payments expense B = S FRIE R X 6,112 32,046
Reclassification from hedging reserve A% hIE B 12 PR 208S
upon early repayment of hedged BY R EEET DA
item 15,981 —
Share of profit of a JCE FE(H KA HIE B AT (6) —
Allowance for doubtful debts RIBAREE A 14,849 —
Operating cash flows before HEESEBHIMEERS
movements in working capital m= 2,228,347 2,739,805
Increase in inventories FEEM (28,951) (674,472)
Increase in trade and other receivables  fE U 2 5 & H th BE 7% 4% A1 (1,018,198) (697,899)
Decrease in amounts due from related i Y B8 & 1 7 38 )5
companies 2,740 36,412
Increase in amount due to a substantial &1~ 3= 32 A% 58 20 I8 18 A0
shareholder 7,626 —
Increase in trade and other payables FEAT B 5 N EoAth BR FR3E hn 596,622 550,179
Decrease in derivative financial PTHEEE T AR D
instruments (8,600) (22,386)
Cash generated from operations REHEBREANIRS 1,779,586 1,931,639
Interest paid BAAFLE (192,746) (215,060)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BT B EMEH (74,436) (195,736)
Settlement of derivative financial et E TN ITASR T A
instruments under hedge accounting Fee (39,610) (79,076)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax refund PRI ZEFTBRLR K CER T 30,590
Purchase of tax reserve certificates BERNS — (39,670)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REXBRERTFER
ACTIVITIES 1,565,939 1,432,687
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

mERERER (B)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

2012 2011
—2——F —E——fF
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
FaE THET FAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REXH
Purchases of property, plant and BEME  BFERHK
equipment (2,879,388) (1,808,169)
Prepaid lease payments FENHEERE (22,931) (92,566)
Loan to a JCE HRAZESEBER (9,400) —
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant HEWE « BE REBHEFE
and equipment IE 53,144 11,864
Interest received EWFE 14,168 12,501
Proceeds from assignment of amount ¥ :E B 4 N\ B /K T8 30E
due from an associate 31 400,112
Deferred consideration received from 2 U EW B A THELERE
disposal of subsidiaries 58,139
Repayment from an associate A NIEEE N 37,641
Proceeds from disposal of an associate | & Bt & A &) T8 508 31 21,731
Increase in restricted bank deposits PR I 8R 1T 17 5K 3G N 1,039
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXBFAREFHE
ACTIVITIES (2,844,407) (1,357,708)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEED
Repayment of bank borrowings EBEETEE GPREE LR (10,365,792)
Dividends paid EARE (600,272) (645,493)
Loan arrangement fee paid ENERFESE (74,400) —
New bank borrowings raised HMEERTESE 13,627,317 11,254,412
Net proceeds from issue of shares BRITEEREMEITRG
through exercies of share options FTiS ;IR F 58 270,318
NET CASH FROM FINANCING METDREREFHE
ACTIVITIES 768,882 513,445
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH RERBRESZEWMFCHL)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 128 (509,586) 588,424
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS HERRESESEBYRA &4
BROUGHT FORWARD 1,228,116 625,244
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE EXxgFHooE
CHANGES 12,968 14,448
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReRREEEYHE
CARRIED FORWARD
represented by bank balances and RITHEBR MRS
cash 731,498 1,228,116
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GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2011 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company is Gold
Best Holdings Ltd. ("Gold Best”), a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate
controlling shareholder of Gold Best is Mr Lee Wan Keung
Patrick. The address of the registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company is disclosed in the Corporate

Information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries and JCE are set

out in notes 37 and 17, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

New and revised Standards, Amendments and
Interpretations applied in the current year

& R T R RAE RT 2 B R B 5%
RELZA(BBMBREE
a1 1)

WA O 2 0 FE A 2 38T R AS 15T
A BT REE

RAFEE  AEEEATIHESR
SR Ag (BB SMAE])HE
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 2 ET RASERT AR - Ba] R
("HKICPA"). A

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations issued

Amendments to HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs issued ERMIBMEE 20108 BAHNE

in 2010 Al 2 5] BB EwE A
B 2
HKAS 24 (as revised in 2010) Related Party Disclosures BT ER BEATHE
5£245%(2010
FRAERT)

Amendments to HK(IFRIC) Prepayments of a Minimum BEE(BEBEYER REE2ERZ

-Int 14 Funding Requirement HREZEE) FENRE
—REE145%
ZAEFT
HK(FRIC) - Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities EX(BEBRVHH DT BEE
with Equity Instruments EREBLEY TRBE
—REFI19%
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Amendments to HK (IFRIC) - Int 14 Prepayments
of a Minimum Funding Requirement

The Interpretation addresses when refunds or reductions in
future contributions should be regarded as available in
accordance with paragraph 58 of HKAS 19; how minimum
funding requirements might affect the availability of reductions
in future contributions; and when minimum funding
requirements might give rise to a liability. The amendments
now allow recognition of an asset in the form of prepaid
minimum funding contributions. The application of the
amendments has not had material effect on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

The application of other new and revised HKFRSs in the current
year also has had no material effect on the amounts reported

in these consolidated financial statement.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

New and revised Standards, Amendments and
Interpretations issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised

Standards, Amendments and

Interpretations that have been

issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and

HKFRS 7

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 12

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)

Annual Improvement 2009-
2011 Cycle?

Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets'

Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities”

Mandatory Effective Date of
HKFRS 9 and Transition
Disclosures®

Financial Instruments?

Consolidated Financial
Statements®

Joint Arrangements?

Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities?
Fair Value Measurement?

Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income®

Deferred Tax — Recovery of
Underlying Assets*

Employee Benefits?

J*E)Eﬁﬁ‘ﬁ&%‘z‘éﬂ Al 2B R
RELZA(BBMBREE

,\JJ) (%)

B 9875 18 14 R AERUZ # 5T RAEE

¥H

—|—/\IJ

BRI R RE

AEBEYRREEERATIIZHEME

el R A B2 FR] A& (g

TRBE

BEMBMELE
AIE758 2 EFT

BEMBMELE

AIZE 95k 2 B R]

KBS B T ]
EERIETH
BB RE S
A 958
BB RE S
BIZE 1058
BB RE %
B 1158
BB RE %
BIZE 1258
BB RE %
A% 1358

BAEGEAE

SR 2AEET
BEBGHEAE
1257 2 1&5T
BEBGHEAE
1958 (20114

KABET)

BYEMARAT 2011/12 £

FTEA - &

—EENFE
—F——%F
Az FE
Bigite

HFE —EEDR
BE

WEE—iH S m
BEEREH
afE’

BB BRELE
BIZE 955 I 3@
I FR Y 0R
Gl =R

ST A’

RAEMBEHRE’

Hitt 2 HKzEIA
B #9517R°

AR ST TR — W)
HEREE"

EE®RAM?

57



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

For the year ended 31 March 2012 &

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

E-F——EZAS—AIEE

+F—=

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

ﬁﬁ%&%ﬂﬂZ%%%ﬁ
RELZA(BBMBREE

("HKFRSs") (continuep) ,\J D)
New and revised Standards, Amendments and SEMEEARER T RES
Interpretations issued but not yet effective TR S BT RAR(E)
(Continued)
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) Separate Financial Statements? BRI EANE BIUMBFHREK’
2755 (20114
&EET)
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and BB ERE REEQINLA
Joint Ventures? 2857 (20114 ERRIMIEE?
BAZET)
Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and BREGIEE HEeMmEEK
Financial Liabilities® 3298 2 185F] cREBES
HK(IFRIC) - Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production E5 (BB & BRIESAER
Phase of a Surface Mine? HERESR ER B9 SR R AR
Bg)-2E
%2097
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. 1 R0 E7R 1Bz BMAAZFTES
RIAERK -
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. 2 M2013F 1 ATB Sz EFRIA 2 FEH
R -
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015. 3 R2015F 1R 1HSz BMAAZFEH
B4R -
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012. 4 M2012F 1 ATB Sz BRI 2 FE
R ©
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. 5 R2012F7R1HS 2 BMAZ FEH
B4R -
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. 6 M2014F 1 ATB 2 B FRIR 2 FE 8

IR -

58 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2011/12 Annual Report



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fan

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Z—=Z—=

B B R A ()
FZA=t—AUEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities and amendments
to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application issues
relating to the offsetting requirements. Specifically, the
amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a legally
enforceable right of set-off” and “simultaneous realisation and

settlement”.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose
information about rights of offset and related arrangements
(such as collateral posting requirements) for financial
instruments under an enforceable master netting agreement or

similar arrangement.

The amended offsetting disclosures are required for the
Group's annual period beginning on 1 April 2013 and interim
periods within those annual periods. The disclosures should
also be provided retrospectively for all comparative periods.
However, the amendments to HKAS 32 are not effective until
annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2014, with
retrospective application required. The directors anticipate that
the amendment will have no material impact on the amounts
reported but result in more extensive disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items
of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present profit
or loss and other comprehensive income in either a single
statement or in two separate but consecutive statements.
However, the amendments to HKAS 1 require additional
disclosures to be made in the other comprehensive income
section such that items of other comprehensive income are
grouped into two categories: (a) items that will not be
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss; and (b) items that
may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific
conditions are met. Income tax on items of other
comprehensive income is required to be allocated on the same
basis.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for the Group’s
annual periods beginning on 1 April 2013. The presentation of
items of other comprehensive income will be modified
accordingly when the amendments are applied in the future
accounting periods.

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits

The amendments to HKAS 19 change the accounting for
defined benefit plans and termination benefits. The most
significant change relates to the accounting for changes in
defined benefit obligations and plan assets. The amendments
require the recognition of changes in defined benefit
obligations and in the fair value of plan assets when they occur,
and hence eliminate the “corridor approach” permitted under
the previous version of HKAS 19. The amendments require all
actuarial gains and losses to be recognised immediately
through other comprehensive income in order for the net
pension asset or liability recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position to reflect the full value of the
plan deficit or surplus.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —ZE— —#F=H=+1—HI-F/F

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (conTivueD)

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011) Employee Benefits
(Continued)

The amendments to HKAS 19 are effective for the Group’s
annual periods beginning on 1 April 2013 and require
retrospective application with certain exceptions. The directors
anticipate that the amendments to HKAS 19 will be adopted in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning 1 April 2013. The application of the
amendments to HKAS 19 will result in a change in the Group’s
accounting policies in respect of the Group’s defined benefit
plans on the recognition of actuarial gains and losses and past
service costs. However, the directors anticipate that the
application of the amendments will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
the other new or revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Listing

Rules and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. Historical cost is generally based on the

fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conrinuep)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating

policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive Income from the effective date of acquisition

and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into

line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated in full

on consolidation.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for use
in the production of goods or for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress, are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninueD)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs include professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Jointly controlled entity

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of a
separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly
controlled entities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninueD)
Jointly controlled entity (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled entities
are incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in jointly controlled entities are initially recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
thereafter to recognise in the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the jointly controlled
entities. When the Group’s share of losses of a jointly controlled
entity equals or exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled
entity (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
jointly controlled entity), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of that jointly

controlled entity.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect to the Group's investment in a jointly controlled entity.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by comparing
its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs to sell) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of the
investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised
in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable

amount of the investment subsequently increases.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZ=F—=—F=A=1+—HI FEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninueD)
Jointly controlled entity (Continued)

When a group entity transacts with its jointly controlled entity,
profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the
jointly controlled entity are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests

in the jointly controlled entity that are not related to the Group.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sales.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss. The classification depends
on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is

determined at the time of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying

amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for

debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including loan to a JCE, trade and other receivables,
amounts due from related companies, restricted bank deposits
and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets

below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group's financial assets classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not

designated as hedging instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured
at fair value, with changes in fair value arising from
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the

period in which they arise.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or
loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the
reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial

assets have been affected.

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;

or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments; or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the profolio past the average credit
period of 45 to 90 days, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the
impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZ=F—=—F=A=1+—HI FEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instrument

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are

recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other financial

liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the

net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

The Group’s financial liabilities are classified as at fair value
through profit or loss are derivatives that are not designated as

hedging instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the

period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amount due to a substantial shareholder and bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the
hedge relationship.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZ=F—=—F=A=1+—HI FEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging (Continued)
Hedge accounting
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments

for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument
that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in

offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedges

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualified as cash flow hedges are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
hedging reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective

portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) are reclassified to
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised
in profit or loss, in the same line of the consodlidated statement

of comprehensive income as the recognised hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, exercised, or when it no longer qualifies for hedge
accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity at that time remains in
equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is
ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss
accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in profit or

loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit
or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZ=F—=—F=A=1+—HI FEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninueD)
Impairment losses on assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an

impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods are recognised when goods are
delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied.

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant

risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with

ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

o the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated with

the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the

transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial

recognition.

Income from supply of steam and electricity is recognised upon

the provision of the steam and electricity.

Income from the rendering of wharf cargo handling services is
recognised in the financial period in which the services are
provided.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —E— _—#F=H=+1—HI-F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninueD)
Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in

which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the
Group, unless it is clear that both elements are operating
leases, in which case the entire lease is classified as an
operating lease. Specifically, the minimum lease payments
(including any lump-sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the land
element and building element of the lease at the inception of
the lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminuep)
Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings (Continued)

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When
the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property,

plant and equipment.

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments represent the up-front operating lease
payments to lease medium-term leasehold land interests in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”) and Vietnam and are
charged to the profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of

the relevant leases.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended

to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they become receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZ=F—=—F=A=1+—HI FEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme™) are recognised as
an expense when the employees have rendered the services

entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of
providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end
of the reporting period. All actuarial gains and losses of the
defined benefit plans are recognised as profit or loss in period
in which they occur. Past service cost is recognised immediately
to the extent that the benefits are already vested, and
otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis over the average
period until the amended benefits become vested.

The retirement benefit assets recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the fair value of the
plan assets as adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and
losses, and as reduced by the present value of the defined
benefit obligation. Any asset resulting from this calculation is
limited to unrecognised actuarial losses and past service cost,
plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in

future contributions to the plan.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conrinuep)

Equity-settled share based payment
transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a

corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original
estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to share

options reserve.

When the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share options reserve will be

transferred to retained profits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the

period in which they are incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —E— _—#F=H=+1—HI-F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction

that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and JCE,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuep)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for
a business combination, the tax effect is included in the

accounting for the business combination.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZ=F—=—F=A=1+—HI FEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninueD)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not

retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are

recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in

equity under the heading of translation reserve.
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82

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair values of derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps and
foreign currency forward contracts are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair values, as
disclosed in note 24. The best evidence of fair value is quoted
prices in an active market. Where quoted prices are not
available for a particular financial instrument, the Group
applied the valuation techniques commonly used by the market
practitioners. The use of methodologies, models and
assumptions in pricing and valuing these financial assets and
liabilities is subjective and requires varying degrees of
judgement by management, which may result in significantly
different fair values and results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —ZE— —F=H=+—HI-F/F

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 March 2012, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised on the distributable profits of the group companies
in the PRC as the Group plans to retain those profits in the
respective entities for their daily operations and future
developments. In case there is change in such plan, additional
tax liabilities will arise, which will be recognised in the profit or
loss for the period in which the management intends to declare
such profits in the foreseeable future or the Group’s future

development plan is amended, whichever is earlier.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors (the
“CODM"), being the chief operating decision maker, for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods delivered. The Group's
reportable segments under “HKFRS 8 — Operating Segments”

are as follows:
(i) Packaging paper — Kraft linerboard, test linerboard, white

top linerboard and high strength corrugating medium;

and

(i) Pulp
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHBER (#)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results DEBRARZELE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results LATREAMENHED 2AEE
by reportable segments: WA RZEED -
For the year ended 31 March 2012 BE-Z-—-FZA=Z+—HLF
E

Packaging Segment
paper Pulp total Eliminations Consolidated
BEL K AWET E2f )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx THET TER THET TERT

REVENUE A

External sales Lo E 14,336,951 378,602 14,715,553 — 14,715,553

Inter-segment sales AEZEHE = 124,451 124,451 (124,451) =

14,336,951 503,053 14,840,004 (124,451) 14,715,553

SEGMENT PROFIT DHBF 1,579,801 25576 1,605,377 1,605,377
Net gain from fair value THeRIA

changes of derivative ATEED

financial instruments FE

Reclassification of cumulative ~ REHIERIERE

loss from hedging reserve HESHE RS
upon early repayment of noz 2 ER
hedged item (15,981)
Share of profit of a JCE A ERE
BH 6
Unallocated income KOBEZHA 51,480
Unallocated expenses APBZZH (5,860)
Finance costs IR (99.901)

Profit before tax B R B AT 1,536,751
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (%)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBUWA R ELE (F)
For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE-Z——H=A=+—HLEE
Packaging Segment
paper Pulp total  Eliminations Consolidated
BEM K DEEF #185 RE

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000
TET THT TET TET TET

REVENUE A

External sales HINHE 13,341,879 692,406 14,034,285 — 14,034,285

Inter-segment sales DE 2 FEHE — 100,589 100,589 (100,589) —

13,341,879 792,995 14,134,874 (100,589) 14,034,285

SEGMENT PROFIT FEBER 2,056,733 82,508 2,139,241 — 2,139,241
Net gain from fair value TEERIA

changes of derivative NEEEE

financial instruments F 3,138
Unallocated income vk Wl N 54,183
Unallocated expenses AP zZH (5,111)
Finance costs B 75 A AN (207,325)
Profit before tax % BBl &R 1,984,126
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the A E D2 & ETBUR TR 3FT
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. MAEE 2 FEFBERER - B &
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment MIEF D WA RIEAF - M & D
without allocation of net gain from fair value changes of RERETEEMIARTFEZYF
derivative financial instruments, reclassification of cumulative Wa - RERIE B IRFE NG
loss from hedging reserve upon early repayment of hedged HEEEFT DB RAEE - EHh
item, share of profit of a JCE, interest income, net exchange HEZEHERBREN  MEKA - E
gain, gain on disposal of interest in an associate, finance costs HOFWa - HEBE QAW - B
and other unallocated income and expenses. This is the BRAREMRDEBARML °
measure reported to the CODM for the purpose of resource WTERTHATEEUMMEERD R
allocation and performance assessment. MERRFTFHZEE -
Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates. DR S E THIRBRITH IS BB E -

BYEMARAT 2011/12 £ 85



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —ZE— —F=H=+—HI-F/F

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (%)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities THEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities U REARED BED 2 AR
> (== / .
by reportable segments: BERBBEIN -
Packaging
paper Pulp Consolidated
BHEHK N e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET FHET FHET
2012 —E_—F
Segment assets DEEE 23,932,759 1,883,543 25,816,302
Unallocated assets AotEEE 924,731
Consolidated total assets IREBEE 26,741,033
Segment liabilities HEEE 2,424,285 38,256 2,462,541
Unallocated liabilities ANMEAR 10,780,279
Consolidated total liabilities RABas 13,242,820
2011 —E—
Segment assets DEEE 20,247,579 1,274,007 21,521,586
Unallocated assets ADFREE 1,552,879
Consolidated total assets TERBREE 23,074,465
Segment liabilities SEEE 1,795,889 29,351 1,825,240
Unallocated liabilities AOEARE 8,949,412
Consolidated total liabilities HReEBas 10,774,652
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments, all assets are allocated
to operating segments other than retirement benefit assets,
derivative financial instruments, tax recoverable, restricted bank
deposits, bank balances and cash and other assets used jointly
by reportable segments, and all liabilities are allocated to
operating segments other than derivative financial instruments,
tax payable, bank borrowings and deferred tax liabilities and

other liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly liable.

Revenue from major products

The following in an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its
major products:

5.

WARDEER (#)

DTHEEREE(E

REEBDIRB LR D EEDE
BR MABEEODETREEDH
(RRENEE  TEE®IA A
WEIHE - ZRERTER - RT
B MRS ARAA RED LR
PrRAMEMEERINURABERRE
UoRETRESBITEEZRTA -
ENBIE RITEEREEHER
BERAHREDBHARENHEMEA
EBRSN) ©

N—

REETEERIBA

TERAAEEKAETEEMAWA
DT

Packaging paper (including linerboard
and corrugating medium)

Pulp R

BERA(BEFEE LB TR)

2012 2011
e — < 7
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TAT
LRELRLAN 13,341,879
378,602 692,406
ERALRER 14,034,285
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
(CONTINUED)

Geographical information
Over 95% (2011: 95%) of the Group’s revenue from external

customers are in the PRC.

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented

based on the geographical location of the assets.

WARDEER (#)

b 35 &

REBINEEE P 2 WAFBIBIS% (=
T——%F :95%)KEHE -

AEEFRBDEEENTIREER
I 25

Non-current assets
FRBEE
2012 2011
—E——fF —E——%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TR

PRC other than Hong Kong FRE - BB
Vietnam R
Hong Kong BE

17,308,399 14,238,759
259,068 407,776
42,679 42,598

17,610,146 14,689,133

Note: Non-current assets exclude retirement benefit assets.

Information about major customers

None of the Group’s customers contributed over 10% of the

Group's total revenue for the current year or the prior year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —ZE— —F=H=+—HI-F/F

6. OTHER INCOME

Compensation income from

suppliers for damaged goods g

Gain on disposal of interest in an HERE N TSN R
associate

Income from supply of steam and HEZREEHRA
electricity

Income from wharf cargo handling EENBEEERA

Interest from an associate il /NS PPN

Interest income from banks HITH B WA

Net foreign exchange gains FER S

Sales of scrap materials and waste paper &t & BE 4% 65 &
Value added tax and other tax refund
Others Hth

HEARBREMMEZ

IBEBRR R E MR

HA U A
2012 2011
—E—_F —ET——4%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FAET
11,320 13,084
21,731
110,249 84,261
52,021 42,049
— 6,691
14,168 5,810
37,312 19,951
28,927 12,986
125,118 93,068
50,712 36,252
429,827 335,883
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —ZE— —F=H=+—HI-F/F

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. BAEE RS
2012 2011
—ZE——F [l
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Interest on bank borrowings wholly RAFABHEECRITEE
repayable within five years & 196,983 215,060
Net interest on interest rate swaps F =45 BR 5 R B, 39,610 79,076
Less: amounts capitalised to property, JH % : 1% - BERE#EZ
plant and equipment N e (136,692) (86,811)
99,901 207,325
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the FRZERCEERRTIR —RE
general borrowing pool and are calculated by applying a BRELE NEEREERSICE
capitalisation rate of 4% (2011: 5%) per annum to TAFFEL4%(ZZE——F : 5%)
expenditures on qualifying assets. The capitalisation rate takes FTE o ERMEF G RAEL A
into account interest rate swap used to hedge the cash flow BUHReRECRERERR Z A
exposure on variability in cash flows. i Hy o
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 8. FMEHZH
2012 2011
—E-——fF —E——%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEx FHET
Income tax recognised in profit or loss: A Bz ARER ~ F B :
Current tax REBIE
- PRC Enterprise Income Tax —HENEMSR 76,054 95,268
— Overseas income tax —BINTIER 52 55
Overprovision in previous year EEBERE
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax — P EMEH (3.442) —
Deferred tax (note 25) EIERIE (KI5E25)
— Charge to profit or loss —REEENR 127,454 69,850
- Change in tax rate of certain —ETHBRRIHEES
subsidiaries (14,816) (29,026)

Total income tax recognised in profit or A 1825 BF M FER 2 RS

loss 185,302 136,147
The Group's profit is subject to taxation from the place of its AEBZABMNEREZFRIRLE
operations where its profit is generated and is calculated at the BT EUATLIR o BRI Z B /1
rate prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions. EREEREACMEHE -

PRC B

Certain subsidiaries in the PRC are entitled to exemption from RPBENETHEAAINSEEE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) for two years starting from BERFEER  2HPBECEMRSESH
their respective first profit-making year, followed by a 50% (TEEMBERI)ME - HE=FH
relief for the three years thereafter (“Tax Holidays"). FERU([FREEER]) -

BYEMARAT 2011/12 £ 91



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

B3 AR B RE (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —ZE— —#F=H=+1—HI-F/F

92

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conmivuep)
PRC (Continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT and its Implementation
Regulations (the "EIT Law"), the statutory tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards. Those
subsidiaries which are entitled to Tax Holidays will be subject to
the statutory tax rate of 25% upon expiry of the Tax Holidays
except as follows:

The tax exemption period of Tax Holidays of Jiangsu Lee & Man
(as defined in note 37) expired on 31 December 2006 and it
was subject to a reduced tax rate of 10%, 22% and 24% for
the calendar years of 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively.
However, subsequently, on 2 August 2011, Jiangsu Lee & Man
was qualified as a Jiangsu Province New and High Technical
Enterprise (L&A S F I 3E) and is therefore entitled to a
concessionary EIT rate of 15% for three calender years
starting1 January 2011.

The tax exemption period of Tax Holidays of Guangdong Lee &
Man (as defined in note 37) expired on 31 December 2008 and
its applicable preferential tax rate for the three calender years
ended 31 December 2011, i.e. 12.5%. In addition, (i) during
the calender year ended 31 December 2010, Guangdong Lee &
Man was entitled to tax credits calculated at 40% of the
relevant costs of qualified plant and equipment acquired in the
PRC and as approved by the relevant tax authority; and (ii) for
the calender year ending 31 December 2012, Guangdong Lee
& Man is entitled to a concessionary EIT rate of 15% as it has
been qualified as a Guangdong Province New and High
Technical Enterprise (R & & M1 2).
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conmivuep)
PRC (Continued)

The tax exemption period of Tax Holidays of Chongging Lee &
Man (as defined in note 37) expired on 31 December 2009 and
it is entitled to be taxed at 50% of the applicable rate for the
three calender years ending 31 December 2012 of which, in
the calendar years of 2011 and 2012, Chongging Lee & Man’s
taxable profit is to be taxed at half of the concessionary EIT rate
of 15%, i.e. 7.5%, as part of the China Western Development
(FHEKFZE) tax concessions. In addition, during the calender
year ended 31 December 2011, Chongging Lee & Man was
entitled to tax credits calculated at 40% of the relevant costs of
qualified plant and equipment acquired in the PRC and as

approved by the relevant tax authority.

On 14 December 2009, Dongguan Lee & Man (as defined in
note 37) was qualified as a Guangdong Province New and High
Technical Enterprise (EERA S EME) and was therefore
entitled to a concessionary EIT rate of 15% for three calender
years ended 31 December 2011. Dongguan Lee & Man is
subject to EIT at 25% starting 1 January 2012.

Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law no.
58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax (Macau
income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant

regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

MEBIH (#)
Bl (&)

EEEN(EERMEI7)BBESR
ZHREREPER _TTAF+=
A=+—BEm MEREE=ZT
——F+- A=+ HAL=ZEEF
REAMERLET  HPR=F
——FR-_E-_FHMEEF &
BEXEABRAMNEZERLEMS
B RIS%ITFEF - B17.5% It
AP BTEEBARNEHIBESRBRR
Z— ot RZE——F+ = A
=+—HLEEF EEEXHFH
BECEERBERRZE  KHH
TRAHERE - H40% R AT
FRYESE TR -

RZZEZAF+ZRA+HHE  ®%
BYX(EERME7)ESEESH
R EEBR - BUEER-F——
F+-A=+t—BL=@AEFA=
BEEBLEMBRBEISY - K=
BYXH_-_T-——F—-F—-Big%Ed
EEMRBR K25 % -

oA

RTS8 1 A AR 3R 5 58/99/M 5 K
SRR - R R BRIRPT
ABOCRFIMER) @ AIRAEEE
STHEBERA T SRRMAL AT
HEEM °
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conmivuep)
Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a maximum rate of 25%. No provision for
Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has been made for both years

as the Vietnam subsidiaries incurred losses for both years.

Hong Kong

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department (“IRD”) commenced a field audit on the
Hong Kong tax affairs of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Since then the IRD has issued protective profits tax assessments
against these subsidiaries in the aggregate amount of
HK$257,075,000 for the years of assessment 2003/2004,
2004/2005, and 2005/2006 (i.e. the three financial years ended
31 March 2006). These protective profits tax assessments were
subsequently held over by the IRD completely after the Group
purchased tax reserve certificates of HK$52,670,000 of which
HK$39,670,000 were purchased up to 31 March 2012 and
HK$13,000,000 were purchased subsequent to 31 March
2012.

The directors believe that no provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax in respect of the above mentioned protective assessments is
necessary. In addition, as far as the directors are aware, the
inquiries from the IRD are still at a fact-finding stage and the
IRD has not yet expressed any formal opinion on the potential
tax liability, if any, because the tax investigation has not
completed.

Other

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates

prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTinuED) 8. MEBZHE)
Other (Continued) Hitn(4&)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per FERERYEREREES2EEE
the consolidated statement of comprehensive Income as KOBMEROT
follows:
2012 2011
b Sl — T ——4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Profit before tax B 55 B 2= A 1,536,751 1,984,126
Tax at the applicable tax rate of 25%  HERAIH K25% (- T —— F:
(2011: 24%) (note i) 24% ) EOTRIE (M) 384,188 476,190
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for /~a] 0t #9 S2 H #9 T4 75 52 2
tax purpose 29,590 43,266
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax 478 R By A BT 75 o2 &
purpose (3,988) (14,561)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERRIEEIEORIETE 2,604 4,975
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised & Ff & #E A 7 18 fE5 12 (3,078) —
Effect of tax exemption granted to SR B AR ER R AT E
Macau subsidiaries (110,945) (127,791)
Effect of concessionary rates granted to BB AT EEEH RN FE
PRC subsidiaries (78,305) (166,571)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 7> E 4th &) A #E [& & 5& HY [ 8 A 7]
operating in other jurisdictions FORNEEES: A (0419 (1,671)
Tax credits (note ii) R IE I (B aEii) (15,750) (48,664)
Change in tax rate of certain subsidiaries & F ¥t /& A 75 K& &) (14,816) (29,026)
Overprovision in previous year EFBEEEE (3.442) —
Tax charge for the year FEMBHRS 185,302 136,147
notes: B3
(i) The domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a substantial (i) ERAAEEBRIOEBESEREL
portion of the Group’s operation is based is used. ALEMER 2 EHFTISHLEK o
(i) Tax credits are calculated with reference to 40% of the cost of the (i) BN DIEARRZE THB AR
purchase of qualified plant and equipment manufactured in the PRC by BEEFBEEEEERKE REHEZK
certain subsidiaries of the Company. AEA40%ETE o
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PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9.

FEAEA

2012
-
HK$'000
FER

Profit for the year has been arrived at 5[ Z R &k -
after charging:

Directors’ emoluments EEME

Staff salaries and other benefits, BEFHe RHEMBETN
excluding those of directors TRIEES

Contributions to retirement benefit RIREMF S

schemes, excluding those of directors B IFE S

12,240

497,342

41,159

Total employee benefit expense BB A5

550,741

Amortisation of prepaid lease payments T8 1< 18 & 318 4 5%

Auditor’s remuneration 2 Gl
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 17 & (K AR & E A
Depreciation of property, ME - BENMEREITE

plant and equipment

HEWE - BEREFHZ

Loss on disposal of property,

plant and equipment &8

Operating lease rentals in respect T REFNLEHERS
of land and buildings

Allowance for doubtful debts RIEREE

9,081

4,660

12,652,109

556,765

4,785

5,315
14,849
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HK$'000
TET

38,190

418,265

30,591

487,046

8,485
4,294
11,452,435
544,096
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4,437
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10. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS 10. EEM <
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2011: ERNEENTAUES(ZF ——
nine) directors were as follows: F )M -

Other emoluments

HitB &

Contributions
Salaries to retirement

and other benefit  Share based
benefits schemes payments
Fees ek BRER i #E % A% Total
we Hi g7 sHEMER I &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT FET FHET FET FHT
Year ended 31 March 2012 —E--f=H
=+—-HLEFEE
Executive directors HITEE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick 3T
Lee Man Chun Raymond k3¢
Lee Man Bun Ee
Kunihiko Kashima BEBALCE
Non-executive directors FHTEF
Poon Chung Kwong BTN
Yoshio Haga FERE

Independent non-executive directors BUHRNTEE

Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR

Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 200

Chau Shing Yim David Bk 200
12,240

Year ended 31 March 2011 —ZE——%=A

=t—BIEFE

Executive directors HITEF

Lee Wan Keung Patrick FER — — — — —

Lee Man Chun Raymond E3q — 3,360 12 19,228 22,600

Lee Man Bun 00 — 2,160 12 12,818 14,990

Kunihiko Kashima BEALE — — — _ _

Non-executive directors FHITEE

Poon Chung Kwong ERKE — — — — —

Yoshio Haga FERME — — - - -

Independent non-executive directors BV HEHITEE

Wong Kai Tung Tony FRIE 200 _ _ _ 200
Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 200 — — — 200
Chau Shing Yim David IEES 200 — — _ 200

600 5,520 24 32,046 38,190
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10. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS (conTinueD) 10.

11.

98

For each of the two years ended 31 March 2012, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as a
compensation for loss of office. No directors waived any
emoluments during these two years.

EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS 11.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2011: two) were directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 10 above.
The emoluments of the remaining three (2011: three)
individuals were as follows:

EEME )

HEz_Z——#F#=-A=+—H81L™W
FR - AEBVEXNEREBME T
ERERFEEMASMALREER
BRAKREEMAEZHE - EMF
NETMESHEMS -

BEM=

AEEZaMe s A AL ﬁEP
MAU(ZE——F - M) BER
EEMEMSER J:LFH?W?&
o Hip= {_L}\i(— ——F: =

f)ZMEmT

2012 2011
e = 7
HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TAT

Salaries and other benefits %ﬁi\ FE g T
Contributions to retirement benefit RARTE R FT B 3K
schemes

6,986 6,002

26 36

6,038

The emoluments were within the following bands: BEENMEN T T AR -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001/8 70— 1,500,000/ 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/8 7 —2,000,00078 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/ 7C—2,500,000/8 7T —
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7C—3,000,000/8 7T 1
3
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
2012 2011
e - 7
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Dividends recognised as distribution: WREDIKZIE
2011 final dividend of HK$0.080 “E-—FREREER
(2010 final dividend of HK$0.080) 0.080 L (=T —TF K
per share f% S &/%0.0807 L) 375,170 364,115
2012 interim dividend of HK$0.048 —E-—FHHREER0.048
(2011 interim dividend of HK$0.060) B (ZT——FHHRKRE
per share &h%0.0607% L) 225,102 281,378
600,272 645,493
A final dividend of HK$0.052 per share in respect of the year EFRERENBE-_Z—Z=-F=A
ended 31 March 2012 (2011: final dividend of HK$0.080 per =t+t—BILEFEREARKRESRKO0.052
share in respect of the year ended 31 March 2011) has been BL(ZE——F - HEZZT—F
proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by A=+ HIEFERAREEGR
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. 0.080/&7T) » MZAFF IR R & JE ik

RRGHE
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BREF
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share AARMBEANERERNR#ER
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the MIA T B R AEETE

following data:

2012 2011
e - 7
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT FTAT

Earnings for the purpose of basicand BT EERER L EER T
diluted earnings per share pv 1,351,449 1,847,979

2012 2011
—E-CF —T——F
Number of Number of

Shares Shares

B &E Bin &R

Weighted average number of ordinary FA AR B 3 R E AR & F1 59 5 38 % 0
shares for the purpose of basic earnings  # £ 19#

per share LS 4 605,481,669
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares: L@ BEE ST E
Share options B cEfyprIclyA | 103,335,070

Weighted average number of ordinary AUsFEEREERN AN
shares for the purpose of diluted @RI RE 198
earnings per share Ly peieliiiEy A 4,708,816,739
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% - BMERKE

Furniture
fixtures and
Computer equipment Leasehold Plantand  Construction
Buildings System %~ BE improvements Motor vehicles machinery in progress Total
gF ERASE  RERRE HEWERE RE BERME ERIR @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET THET FiER FET TET FET TiEn
cost RA&
At 1 April 2010 “Z-ZENA-H 2,672,723 23,072 332,398 405,951 46,189 9,711,334 939,423 14,131,090
Exchange relignment  E} B384 106,372 - 11,182 17,303 1,705 395,631 15,903 548,096
Additions RE 70,805 1,232 7,450 16,864 3,285 38,906 1,505,483 1,644,025
Transfers ] 30,759 — 422 1,145 — 93,770 (126,09) -
Disposals/written off e/ HE - - (1,404) (564) (73) (11,754) - (13,795)
At 31 March 2011 —F—-F%
ZA=Z+-8 2,880,659 24,304 350,048 440,699 51,106 10,227,887 2,334,713 16,309,416
Exchange realignment  EX E3AL 72,192 2 9979 10,117 1,141 254,603 41,162 389,196
Additions HE 17,113 995 12,492 9,944 10,480 63,085 3,142,539 3,256,648
Transfers #2 258,610 — 69,466 18,523 — 1,454,687 (1,801,286) -
Disposals/written off LE /MK — - (1.961) (115) (3,558) (55,708) (2,931) (64,273)
At 31 March 2012 -3
ZA=t+-H 3,228 574 25,301 440,024 479,168 59,169 11,944,554 3,714,197 19,890,987
DEPRECIATION il
At 1 April 2010 “Z-ZFmA-A 392,886 7,502 74,094 76,322 30,266 1,148,574 - 1,729,644
Exchange realignment R E3/A4 19,515 - 409 3,608 976 54,942 — 83,333
Provided for the year FREE 124,385 2,430 56,653 21,309 4,819 334,500 — 544,09
Eliminated on disposals/ ~ HEBL# /M
written off - — (290) - (44) (428) - (762)
At 31 March 2011 3
ZA=t+-8 536,786 9,932 134,749 101,239 36,017 1,537,588 - 2,356,311
Exchange realignment ELEHHA 13,727 2 3,741 2,565 734 40,352 — 61,121
Provided for the year FREE 133,290 2,533 58,739 22,631 5278 334,294 - 556,765
Eliminated on disposals/ 1 EE 4 /HiBE
written off - - (1,720) (115) (3,19) (1,313) - (6,344)
At 31 March 2012 —T--F
=A=t-8 683,803 12,467 195,509 126,320 38,833 1,910,921 - 2,967,853
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 March 2012 “E--F
ZA=1+-8 2,544,771 12,834 244,515 352,848 20,336 10,033,633 3,714,197 16,923,134
At 31 March 2011 —F—-F
ZA=Z+-R 2,343,873 14,372 215,299 339,460 15,089 8,690,299 2,334,713 13,953,105
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14.

102

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant
and equipment other than construction in progress over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method, at the

following rates per annum:

Buildings 5%
Computer System 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%

Leasehold improvements 5%-15%
Motor vehicles 20%
Plant and machinery 3'5%-20%
The carrying values of land and buildings of the Group

comprises:

14. ¥ BMERKE#)

RERIRESN W% BERDRE
EHREBHASEEE  REH
AT 4F 0 DA B0 3R 7 85 UL 3
B ERMT

BF 5%
EN B 10%
B BIEREREE 20%
HEMERE 5%-15%
8 20%
TR 55 N 1 B 3/3%-20%

AEBEZ T EEBFHREERE

Buildings on lands under medium-term 7 # B A AR B3R €78 49

lease in the PRC T iEF

2012 2011
e = F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TAER TR
2,544,771 2,343,873

Certain buildings of the Group are erected on lands in the PRC
with respect to which the Group has not been granted formal
title of ownership. At 31 March 2012, the carrying value of
such buildings was HK$962,252,000 (2011: HK$993,057,000).
In the opinion of directors, the absence of formal title to these
buildings does not impair the value of the relevant buildings to
the Group as the Group has paid substantially the full purchase
consideration of these land rights and the probability of being
evicted on the ground of an absence of formal title is remote.
The directors also believe that formal title of these buildings

will be granted to the Group in due course.
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15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 15. FRNHEERE

The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold lands
held under medium-term leases located in:

AEERNEERBERRTHEE
ANZHEEL AR

2012 2011
—E——F [elagad
HK$"000 HK$'000
FET FAT

PRC =8
Vietnam R

459,933 435,302
45,727 45,692

505,660 480,994

Analysed for reporting purposes as: mERBEMEZSN
Non-current asset ERBNEE
Current asset MENEE

2012 2011
e e = 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT
494,704 471,121
10,956 9,873
505,660 480,994

As at 31 March 2012, the carrying value of land use rights in
respect of which the Group had not been granted formal title
of ownership was HK$87,622,000 (2011: HK$62,411,000). In
the opinion of the directors, the absence of formal title to these
land use rights does not impair the value of the relevant
properties to the Group as the Group has paid substantially the
full purchase consideration of these land rights and the
probability of being evicted on the ground of an absence of
formal title is remote. The directors also believe that formal title
to these land use rights will be granted to the Group in due

course.

R-ZE——F=ZA=+—8 " £H
WRBRTEAEBE 2 THERAE
Z BT {E 587,622,000 L (=%
——% :62,411,00087L) - EER
RRBREETMERAEEXELE
TTrEBREEEAERMEER B
AAEEEXNAEMEEZ LTI
BZRERARBREXNEGENE
BB M 4R B + b 89 #E & =T E A o
EENHEGEEITAKBREESER
TZETMEREEXEBRE -
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16.

17.

104

DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF 16.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LAND USE RIGHTS

The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use
rights for new production facilities. The related commitments
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use
rights are disclosed in note 33.

BEYE BERREBRL
o FRHEFTYRT &

T RASERTHEERE
MEENWE  BE MEERLTH
FEREMNE BEVE BEX
BEARTHERAENERAAED
M EE33HFE -

HEZEHERES

2012 2011
e = 7
HK$°000 HK$°000
TR TAT

6 —
19 —

INTEREST IN A JCE 17.
Cost of investments HE KR

Share of profit FE(E & T

Translation of a JCE HEEsEEnsg

Loan to a JCE (note) HEEHEEER (M)

note: The amount is unsecured, interest-free and expected to be repaid after
five years from the end of reporting period subject to management
review. It is provided to a JCE in the form of shareholder’s loan.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

17. INTEREST IN A JCE (conTiNnuED) 17. HREZEHERBER &)
Details of the Group’s JCE and its subsidiary at 31 March 2012 RZE-—ZF=ZA=+—HAF%K%
are as follows: ZHAZFHEBREAWNBARFE
wmr
Issued and fully Proportion of issued
Name of JCE and Place of paid share capital/ and fully paid up
its subsidiary Incorporation registered capital capital held
HEZRHEER and operations CERITRATRE BEERTR Principal Activity
HMBARER RIREEHE /EMEXR BERALH TEEB
Directly Indirectly
B =3
JCE:
HEEHIER :
Southern Hill Company ~ Hong Kong Ordinary shares 50% — Investment holdings
Limited ) - HK$2 REZR
HEBRAT TR — 28T
Its subsidiary:
HIMEAR -
I=BL &b PRC Registered capital — 50%  Provision of port facilities
BRAF (FIFE) h US$12,000,000 REEORRES
(Ruichang Lee & Man FHEAR
Logistics Company 12,000,000% T
Limited) (note)
note: The company is the wholly-owned subsidiary of Southern Hill Company ME: ZRRAAMEARARZZAWME R
Limited. Al
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZ=F—=—F=A=1+—HI FEZE

17. INTEREST IN A JCE (conTiNnuED) 17. HEZEHERBER &)
The summarised consolidated financial information in respect FRAREEHLRAERER 2GS
of the Group’s interest in the JCE which are accounted for BERDERAEREAR  HEW
using the equity method is set out below: ™
2012
—_E-—_—F
HK$’'000
FET
Non-current assets EMEEE 3,855
Current assets mBNEE 6,216
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (9,400)
Current liabilities mEEE (646)
Net assets of the JCE HEEHERFEE 25
Other income E A 16
Expenses =]
Profit for the year FEAF
18. INVENTORIES 18. &
2012 2011
—Z——F [l
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FHET
Raw materials JR¥E 2,518,015 2,459,146
Finished goods BIRK Gh 606,230 507,592

3,124,245 2,966,738
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. EREBE S R EMIRR
2012 2011
e - 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH& T FET
Trade receivables TEWE SRR 2,102,577 1,880,295
Less : allowance for doubtful debt B RIEEEREME (14,849) —

2,087,728 1,880,295
Bills receivables FEWE T 1,944,808 1,146,969

4,032,536 3,027,264

Prepayments and deposits for purchase 8% & REFE N RIBA NG &
of raw materials 559,515 568,241
Other deposits and prepayments HEihaT & R FIE 115,533 119,026

VAT receivables JE U3 (B F I8 426,565 247,816
Other receivables H iU R IR 107,681 112,701

5,241,830 4,075,048

The Group allows its customers an average credit period of 45 AEBETEPHTHEERARAS
to 90 days. The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills HZE90H - TRRBEREHHARE
receivables presented based on the invoice date at the end of FHHCERESEREERDNE
the reporting period. BT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conminuep)

19

Aged: BRiR ¢
Less than 30 days 308
31 -60 days 31H—60H
61 -90 days 61H—90H
91— 120 days 91H —120H
Over 120 days 1208 A E

- BB 5 REMIRK(#)
2012 2011
e - 7
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT FTAT
3,345,194 2,458,746
563,536 422,295
81,818 128,562
23,194 13,473
18,794 4,188
4,032,536 3,027,264

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits.
Credit sales are made to customers with a satisfactory and
trustworthy credit history. Credit limits attributed to customers
are reviewed regularly. The directors consider all trade
receivables (other than those for which impairment losses have
been recognised) at the reporting date are of good credit
quality with reference to the track records of these customers
under internal assessment by the Group.

Included in the Group's trade receivables balances are debtors
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$41,988,000 (2011:
HK$17,661,000) which were past due at the reporting date
but for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss
as the Group considered such balances could be recovered
based on historical experience. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conminuep) 19. ERE S R EHAMRNK (#)

Ageing of trade receivables which are past due BB 1 ARORE R FE W B B IR X
but not impaired Y BR A
2012 2011
—E——F [l
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
91 - 120 days 918 —120H 23,194 13,473
Over 120 days 1208 + 18,794 4,188
41,988 17,661
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts RIBRBEZE
2012 2011
e = F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
At 1 April REA—H = —
Impairment losses recognised EREREERER 2 REEE

on receivables

At 31 March W=A=+—H —
Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually RIBERBEGESERER @RS &K
impaired trade receivables with an aggregate balance of BRETHRAENEKE S R ITR
HK$14,849,000 (31 March 2011: HK$nil) which have either B &#4&%14,849,0008 (=
been placed under liquidation or in severe financial difficulties. T——F=ZA=+—H:8E)-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Gy

B3 R AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —ZE— —#F=H=+1—HI-F/F

19.

20.

110

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTinuED) 19. EWEBE S REMBRR (&)
Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies WHENEBEBEERNEEEKFE
other than the functional currency of the relevant group HEWE 5 R EMARTNT :
entities are set out below:
2012 2011
e - 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FHET
HK$ BT 234,863 370,648
United States dollars ("US$") E(lUuss ) 240,248
AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) RELATED 200 ER(RBEERATAREER

COMPANIES AND A SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDER

The amounts due from related companies represent trade
balances due from Jiangsu Lee & Man Chemical Limited
("Jiangsu Chemical”) and Lee & Man Industrial Manufacturing
Limited ("LMIML"), both of which are beneficially owned and
controlled by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a director and the
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company and his

daughter, respectively.

The amount due to a substantial shareholder represent trade
balance due to Nippon Paper Group Inc. (“Nippon Paper”), a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

The amounts are unsecured and interest-free. The Group
generally allows related companies an average credit period of
30 days and the amounts for both years were aged less than
30 days. As at the end of the reporting period, the balances
were neither impaired nor past due. The credit period granted
by a substantial shareholder is 30 days and the amount was
aged less than 30 days.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

= A
=

BB AR MY RE (AR)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

21.

22.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less.

The restricted bank deposits of HK$972,000 (2011:
HK$949,000) represent monies secured by the PRC government
for certain commercial purposes of which the security period
will expire within one year from the end of the reporting period
and are therefore classified as current assets.

The restricted bank deposits carried market interest rate of
0.50% (2011: 0.36%) per annum. Bank balances carried
market interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 1.49% (2011:
0.01% to 2.20%) per annum.

Bank balances that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set
out below:

21.

ZREBITFRRIRITAEER
kBEE

RITERLBACBRERAEERAN
BekRIHAR=EAH AR
RHRITER

A 809720008 L (T ——F:
949,0008 7T ) 2 X R HI R 1717 ;B
AETEXENMEREASSEK
FHRES  MxREHEERSE
AR —FRER  WEZSHRE

XBRHBROTERTEM B FELE X
0.50% (=T ——4% :0.36%) >
RITERTEMSEFTFEELH001%
E149% (ZE——F : 001% =
2.20%) °

LI R EEE B
PRIT BB

HK$
Us$

BT

ET

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and bills payables B E SERRER

Construction fee payable R TR
Accruals st ER
Receipt in advance T8 Y kI8
Other payables H th & 1< 5B

2012 2011
e — < 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TAT
129,958 57,461
13,788 13,009
22. BNEZ REAMIERR
2012 2011
= — < 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAT
2,454,913 1,825,240
286,405 127,861
160,614 152,283
132,120 132,539
93,235 77,381
3,127,287 2,315,304
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012

Em

—HEZASH—AILEE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continuep)

112

The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges

from 30 to 120 days. The following is an aged analysis of the

trade and bills payables presented based on the invoice date at

the end of the reporting period.

22.

B E 5 K H AR

=+, —
(&)

EEBEZVFHYIRIEHA30E120
BTE - TRARBREHREEA

Hi 2 R RR AR Je AR

2012
—E——fF
HK$'000
FERT

Aged:

Less than 30 days
31 -60 days

61 —90 days

91 - 120 days
Over 120 days

AR R -

L H30H
318 —60H
618 —90H
918 —120H
1208 A £

893,370
668,137
583,127
292,963

17,317

2,454,914

Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies

other than the functional currency of the relevant group

entities are set out below:

ZERER DT o

2011
—E——4F
HK$'000
TET

862,978
390,059
554,281
14,238
3,684

1,825,240

VHNEAEEERIEEEHE
MEME S REMERRET

2012
—E——F
HK$'000

FERx

Us$
HK$

2,140,587
370
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

G E M RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZ=F—=—F=A=1+—HI FEZE

23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. IRITEE
The Group’s bank borrowings, all of which are unsecured, TEEBZRITEE(2HHAER
comprised: )8

2012 2011
—E——F [elagad

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

Bank loans BITER 8,895,198 7,829,054
Bank import loans RITEOER 664,115 159,552

9,559,313 7,988,606

The bank borrowings are repayable RITEEMNERBNT

as follows:
Within one year —F R 1,390,545 2,068,222
More than one year, but not BE—FEIRME

exceeding two years 1,572,878 2,058,959
More than two years, but not BEMFERLARAF

exceeding five years 5,090,917 3,224,665
More than five years HBERE — 1,286

8,054,340 7,353,132
Carrying amount of bank loans that are 7B R4 Bi4E R 5 H AR ET

repayable within one year from the —i NEZBHBEEEK

end of the reporting period but TIERZRITERERE

contain a repayment

on demand clause 1,504,973 635,474

9,559,313 7,988,606
Less: Amount due within one year B ARV ARBEEN—FA
shown under current liabilities FI EA I8 (2,895,518) (2,703,696)

Amount due after one year —F 1% F|H 1B 6,663,795 5,284,910
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEe

B35 AR MY R (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

23.

14

BANK BORROWINGS (contivuep)

All the above bank borrowings carry variable interest rates
ranging from Hong Kong Interbanks Offered Rate (“HIBOR")
plus 1.10% to HIBOR plus 2.95% or London Interbanks
Offered Rate (“LIBOR") plus 2.55% to LIBOR plus 5.00% (2011:
ranging from HIBOR plus 0.90% to HIBOR plus 3.50%) per

annum.

The weighted average effective interest rate of the Group’s
bank borrowings are as follows:

23. BT EE#E)

LTHFBERTEEARZIEEE
FEEXRABEBRITRAER BN
1.10% Z2.95% 3k fis 2R 77 A ¥ 37
Bi2.55%&5.00% " F (T ——
FBARITEAEFRLSIMN0.90% =
3.50%F%) -

AEBIRITEE Z BB R R INEF
HEWT

Variable-rate borrowings FEEE

The Group’s bank borrowings that are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

2012 2011
N = F
HK$’000 HK$'000
TRERT TAT

Us$ ETT
HK$ BT

1,493,917 16,908
870,000 1,820,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Current

wE

2012
—_EgE—_—F
HK$'000

FE T
Derivative financial #T44¢@a®
liabilities — net —FEER WK
settlement
Derivatives under hedge R¥ &5 EAR
accounting ZITET R

= 4= B (F &)

Interest rate swaps (note i)

Other derivatives (not HinfTET A

under hedge (et ¥

accounting) EEAR)
Interest rate swaps (note i) F =5 85 (B 5% ii) (9,434)
Foreign currency forward SN IRBR A 49

contracts (note iii) Cogzai) =
Derivative financial fi4£4¢m&E

assets — net —FERK

settlement
Other derivatives HfTET A

(not under hedge €3¢ p

accounting) BEEAR)
Foreign currency forward ~ SMNECREIES 49

contracts (note iii) (P 5Ziii)

The fair values of the above derivative financial instruments are
calculated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the
applicable yield curves of interest rates and foreign exchange
rates as determined by the counterparties.

24. STEEMIA

Non-current

FERE

2011 2012 2011
—T——F Rt — T —fF
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TERx TR

TET

—

bitrEeR T AZ A FETLRE
HFHUBRBER 2 ERINE
MBEXRZEAERE - RFHR
EREDMRBELEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(CONTINUED)

116

notes:

(0]

Interest rate swaps (“swap”) — hedge accounting

In prior year, the Group entered into swaps to minimise its exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk of its variable-rate HK$ bank borrowings (see
note 23) by swapping a proportion of the variable-rate bank borrowings
from variable interest rates to fixed interest rates. The swaps and the
corresponding bank borrowings had substantially the same terms and the
directors of the Company consider that the swaps were highly effective
hedging instruments. Due to early repayment of the relevant bank
borrowings in January 2012 (“Date of Termination”), the hedge
accounting was discontinued and the interest rate swaps are ceased to be
derivatives under hedge accounting (“Termination”). Major terms of these
swaps are set out below:

Notional amount Swap
Bt =1

24. (TEERM I A (&)

B EE -
()

MEEH((EH]) - gt AR
LEE AKERARY  BBKHED
FRIRITRE BIZ B R E E R
R EURERET S B RITE A
FEZBRERENERAR(RHE23)
M RBEZRITEREGRABUIER -
ARBEERREHRTIFEEERZE S
TR -mREHERTEER-Z2—=F
—A®RIERDRREE  BELE
BAFAREAN KT T BBRE P&t
ZOTETR(EILED - SR BT E
BRESIT

3 contracts with amortising principal sum of HK$1,340,000,000
as at 31 March 2011

RZZE——F=A=+—0 3NeERFrE &
1,340,000,0007% 7T

The above contracts will mature in September 2012.

For the year ended 31 March 2011, net adjustment of hedging reserve of
HK$61,611,000, arising from the effective portion of the swaps, were
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and
were expected to be released to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income at various dates in line with the interest and
principal payments schedule of the corresponding bank borrowings over
their maturity periods. A loss from fair value changes of HK$33,000, arising
from the ineffective portion of the swaps was recognised in profit or loss.

Net adjustment of hedging reserve of HK$52,361,000, arising from the
effective portion of the swaps for the period from 1 April 2011 to the
Date of Termination were recognised in other comprehensive income
including HK$15,981,000, which was reclassified and recognised in profit
and loss upon Termination. Furthermore, a gain from fair value changes
of HK$1,411,000 arising from the ineffective portion of the swaps was
recognised in profit or loss upon the Date of Termination. In addition,
losses from fair value changes of HK$176,000 after the Termination was
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2012.

From 4.65% to 5.50%

F14.65%%5.50%

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2011/12 Annual Report

FREOBR_Z—_FNAHEN -

REZE-_ZT——F=ZA=+—8HLHF
- BEBHZERENEENERRE
F 61,611,000 tEREMEE
e NER R R Em R Rt Rl - B8
ERAREEBERITEEZFERA
SEYMNHERTRA FTEEHRAREE -
BHERESNEEZ A FEZBEE
33,0008 TERIBmRPER -

R 2 F H % 52,361,000 L)Y
BT —FNA—HEKRI BHPME
Mz BUBHEE - WEREMEEI
MR - EH8IE15981,000/8TE
ENOBWARIEREIBEPRER - It
SN BBz EABHATEESES
2 W 1,411,000 LB R IEBRIE
wIRER - BE - RIEBRZATFEEZD
E18176,0008 TERBE=-T—=F
A=+ ALFEEBRERR -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 24. STEEMIA(#)

(CONTINUED)

notes: (Continued) BT« (48)

(i) Interest rate swaps - not under hedge accounting (i) FIREH-FREUHPEFAR
Major terms of outstanding contracts as at 31 March 2012 in which RZZE——F=ZA=+—H  Fulfx
hedge accounting has been terminated in note (i) above and reclassified (WP B gt ARR BRI
as interest rate swaps not under hedge accounting since Termination ENDPRIFE TG 2RI RS - K
were as follows: THEAENZEZHEROT -
Notional amount Interest rate swap
WetE Fl &5 1

3 contracts with amortising principal sum of HK$580,000,000 From 4.65% to 5.50%
as at 31 March 2012

RZZE—ZF=ZA=+—H 3pEeERLreeH HH4.65%%5.50 %
580,000,000/# 7T

The above contracts will mature in September 2012. FRMEHNBR - FNAEW -
(iii)  Foreign currency forward contracts — not under hedge accounting (iii) HEERPEN - FREFETAR

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at REZE——F=ZA=+—BREHINE

31 March 2012 are as follows: BREAHNZEERRET -

Notional amount Currency conversion

HeeE EHEn

2 contracts to buy GBP3,820,000 in total GBP1:US$1.5720t0 1.5752

21 EKFE3,820,000 5 £ 1548 5,1.5720% 1.5752% T

1 contract to buy USD11,010,000 in total USD1: HK$7.7563

1 & #HE11,010,000% T 1E7TH7.7563%8 7T

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at RZFE——F=ZA=+—BARTHEINE

31 March 2011 were as follows: BHENZEERHIMT ¢

Notional amount Currency conversion

HeeHE EHEin

4 contracts to buy GBP14,600,000 in total GBP1:US$1.5883t01.6183

A& HFHE 14,600,000 8 13455,1.5883%1.6183% T

The above contracts will mature within one to two months (2011: one to FHAEHOKBEBREBRE—ZRMEAR

two months) after the end of the reporting period. —E——F: —EREA)RNRE -

Derviative financial instruments that are denominated in currencies other WIAEEE B e G E 2T

than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out ESBMTIARIMNT

below:

2012 2011
—E——& —T——fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FIT
Derivative financial assets PTHESREE
GBP fiis 2 809
Derivative financial liabilities THESREE
GBP B 337
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

25. DEFERRED TAX 25. IEERIE
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and THRAFERETEREAGENRITR
movement thereon during the current and prior periods. MEHRECZE -

Undistributed

Earnings
Accelerated of PRC
tax  subsidiaries
depreciation Hh Bl ffY
JIIEE TR REZ Total
e R B & F &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
At 1 April 2010 —E-TFMWA—H 315,394 4,145 319,539
Change in tax rate of certain T B R TR )
subsidiaries (29,026) — (29,026)
Charge to profit or loss FFABEER 69,850 — 69,850
At 31 March 2011 —ET——%=A=+—H 356,218 4,145 360,363
Change in tax rate of certain ETHBARFXRE
subsidiaries (14,816) — (14,816)
Charge to profit or loss FFABEER 127,454 — 127,454
At 31 March 2012 —E-——Ff=A=+—H 468,856 4,145 473,001
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

fan

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Z—=Z—=

S BERME (F)
FEA=—ALFE

25. DEFERRED TAX (conTinUED)

At 31 March 2012, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$31,000,000 (2011: HK$33,000,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of such losses for both years
due to unpredictability of future profit streams. As at 31 March
2012, the tax losses of approximately HK$31,000,000 (2011:
HK$33,000,000) from the PRC subsidiary which will expire at
various dates up to and including 2017 (2011: 2016).

According to the EIT Law, dividend paid to foreign investors
out of profit earned by entities established in the PRC from 1
January 2008 onwards is subject to withholding tax at 10%.
For investors incorporated in Hong Kong and holding at least
25% of equity interest in a PRC company, a preferential rate of
5% can be applied. The Group has not provided for deferred
tax liability in respect of the relevant undistributed profits of its
PRC subsidiaries because the directors believe that the
Company is able to control the timing of the distribution by its
subsidiaries such that no withholding tax will be payable in the
foreseeable future. As at the end of the reporting period, the
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised were approximately
HK$132.7 million (2011 approximately HK$62.4 million).

The tax rates of certain subsidiaries were changed when these
subsidiaries became entitled to concessionary tax rates pursuant

to relevant incentive tax rules as detailed in note 8.

25.
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

120

(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees

Defined benefit plan

The Group is a member of a defined benefit plan which
was open to qualified employees of the Group’s Hong
Kong subsidiary, the plan is managed by Fortune Star
Tradings Ltd. (“Fortune Star”) which is beneficially owned
and controlled by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a director
and the controlling shareholder of the Company. In
December 2000, all the existing members of the defined
benefit plan were enrolled into a MPF Scheme and their
accrued benefits for the past services under the defined
benefit plan were frozen as at 30 November 2000. The
defined benefit plan was closed to new employees from
December 2000 onwards.

Under the defined benefit plan, employees are entitled to
retirement benefits varying between 0% and 100% of
their final salary as at 30 November 2000 multiplied by
the pensionable service year up to 30 November 2000 on
attainment of a retirement age of 55. No other post-

retirement benefits are provided.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the defined
benefits plan assets and the present value of the defined
benefit obligation was carried out at 31 December 2011
by HSBC Life (International) Limited. The present values
of the defined benefit obligation, the related current
service cost and past service cost were measured using

the projected unit credit method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FE M mARMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZ=F—=—F=A=1+—HI FEZE

26. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminuED) 26. EKRB@ERIFE(#)
(a) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (a) RAEEREEMRATE(E)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) REMZETEI(E)
The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows: FrTAMEFEREREZNT
31 December 31 December
2011 2010
—E——f —E-ZF
TZA=1t—H aei=hl=
Discount rate AL 37 & 0% 0%
Expected return on plan assets sHEIE ETE LR 3% 3%
The actuarial valuation shows that the market value of BEREBRRTEEER T
plan assets at 31 December 2011 was HK$ 1,560,000 (31 ——F+-A=+—BzmE
December 2010: HK$1,486,000) and that the actuarial 741,560,000 T (=T —FF
value of these assets represented 273% (31 December +=-—A=+—H : 1,486,000
2010: 260%) of the benefits that were accrued to BIL) MZEEEZRHE
members. ETHERETEIKBERES ﬂ

2273%(—_E—ZTF+_-A=
+—H :260%) °

Amounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of the R KRR TN ST EIHER
defined benefit plan are as follows: olc k(N
2012 2011
—ZE——F [l
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TAET
Expected return on plan assets sHE|E ETE [0 7R (45) (43)
Actuarial gain recognised in the year FRBESRER (bL)] (29)
Total, included in other income At BRFAEMUA (74) (72)
The actual return on plan assets for the year was FEIEERAFENER LR
HK$74,000 (2011: HK$72,000). 74,0008 T (—F——%:

72,000 70) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

26. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminuED) 26. EKRB@ERIFE(#)
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (a) BEBEEMROTE(E)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) REFZETEI(E)
The amounts included in the consolidated statement of AEEMNERKREMNEES A
financial position in respect of the Group's retirement FEMBARRERNEENAT

benefit assets are as follows:

2012 2011

—E——F [l

HK$’000 HK$'000

TRT TET

Fair value of plan assets FEEEAFEE 1,560 1,486
Present value of funded obligations AYEFERNIRE (572) (572)

At end of the year F4R 914

Movements in the fair value of the plan assets were as FrEIEEATFEMNEFHNAT
follows:

2012 2011

—E——F —ET—%F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTEx FHET

At beginning of the year FH) 1,486 1,479

Expected return of plan assets BETEFEH DR 45 43

Actuarial gains BEER 29 29

Benefits paid BEF — (65)

At end of the year FER 1,486
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

26. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conTinUED)
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued)

Defined benefit plan (Continued)
Movements in the present value of the funded obligations

are as follows:

26. RIKBRIFTE(2)

(a) HEBEEMRMNTE(HE)

FE MR8 (4F)
AERENZEFHMAT

2012 2011
= = 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
At beginning of the year F£9) 572 637
Benefits paid B @A — (65)
At end of the year FR 572
The major categories of plan assets, and the expected FrEIEECEEZER  URE
rate of return at the end of reporting period for each R S HAR 2 T8 B E] ¥ &
category, are as follows: s

Expected return

Debt instruments BHIA
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEEY

Weighted average expected  fN{EF9 5T @R
return

Fair value of plan assets

R E R HEEEAYE

2012

2011

= < 7
GICHIAN  HK$'000

TERT TAT

1,388
172

BYEMARAT 2011/12 £

123



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

26. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminvueD)

124

(a)

(b)

Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued)

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes the lower of HK$1,000
or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF

Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

Plan for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to

make the required contributions under the scheme.

26. RIKBRIFTE(2)

(a)

(b)
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
Ordinary
shares Amount
EREREE x|
HK$'000
THET
Authorised: ETE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each R-ZZE-TFWNA—-B -
at 1 April 2010, —E——F=ZA=F+—H8k
31 March 2011 and —T——F%=ZA=+—H
31 March 2012 FH%0.0258 LR L @R 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each RZE-FTEMNA—H
at 1 April 2010 F%0.0258 LML @R 4,550,801,648 113,770
Exercise of share options (note) T B R (KT EE) 138,821,332 3,471
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each RZZE——F=ZA=+—HK
at 31 March 2011 and “E--#=ZA=+—H
31 March 2012 FH%0.0258 LR L @R 4,689,622,980 117,241
note: During the year ended 31 March 2011, 5,488,000 and 133,333,332 Miad:B#Ez_T——F=A=+—BItFE
share options under the Scheme (as defined in note 29) were exercised at N REERESE(EERLME29)
a subscription price of HK$3.775 and HK$1.872 per share respectively, T -+ 5,488,000 & 133,333,332 I &
resulting in the issue of 138,821,332 ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each in RIEDNIZGRABEI 775 TR
the company. 1872 T EATHE - B AR BT
138,821,332k &% 0.0258 T 2 % 3B
fRAZ 5 ©
All the shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing BTN BERNDEME HEEE R
shares in all respects. WRERNEZERSHEL -
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28.

126

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the
Company dated 11 September 2003, a share option scheme
was approved and adopted (the “Scheme”).

The Scheme was established for the purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible persons. The Scheme will
remain in force for a period of ten years from adoption of the

Scheme. The Scheme will expire on 10 September 2013.

Under the Scheme, the Board may at their discretion grant
options to (i) any director (including executive directors, non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors)
and employees of the Group in which the Group holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company; or (ii) any
advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, promoters, service
providers of any member of the Group may be determined by
the Board from time to time to subscribe for the shares of the
Company (the “Shares”).

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at any point in
time. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue on the last
date of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2011/12 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —ZE— —#F=H=+1—HI-F/F

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 28. UREXNRZ (%)

(CONTINUED)

Options may be exercised during such period (including the EREITRESETHTHE(BE
minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held BRETHEASVERENRE R
before it can be exercised) as may be determined by the Board (anA))171E (FZ HAfE b 7B 7 B A
(which shall be less than ten years from the date of issue of the BETHHBHTNSBAETF) BT
relevant option). Options may be granted without initial BY 1B IEAERERBIRERD
payment except the payment of HK$1 as consideration for KRB BRETEBEMEL IR
grant of option each time. The exercise price is equal to the NHOWBEBATEE - ITEEEER
highest of (i) nominal value of the Shares; (i) the closing price TH&EEsE  (WVROEE  ()IRD
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by REHBHEBIMEERERM
the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant; and (iii) the REWTHE RO EBERE
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily HHpAEE XA MR E R R
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five BEATRHEHKTE

business days immediately preceding the date of the grant.

The following table discloses details of the Company’s options TEXBEFANREE(BEEE)EEH
granted under the Scheme held by employees (including BIEZTEBEE AR QR ERESE
directors) and movement in such holdings during the year: 1E R H & -

Number of share options

BREHE

Outstanding

Exercise Outstanding Exercised at

price at during 31 March 2011

Category Date of grant HK$ 1 April 2010 the year and 2012

R=2——F

R-Z-FfF k=Z-—=f

THE mA—H " =HA=t+-A8

Y| RHAH BT EARTEHE TEHE  HATEEA
Director 3 October 2006

5% ZETRFTA=H 3.775 3,808,000 (3,808,000) —
Other employees 3 October 2006

Hitg& —ETRFTA=R 3.775 1,680,000 (1,680,000) —

Exercisable at
the end of year
RERATTEEE 5,488,000 (5,488,000) —
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28.

128

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 28. UREXNRF (#)
(CONTINUED)
Number of share options
BREHA
Exercise  Outstanding Exercised  Outstanding Exercised  Outstanding
price at during at during at
Category Date of grant HKS 1 April 2010 the year 31 March 2011 the year 31 March 2012
R-E-%% R=B-—-% ot St
i@ mA-H ZB=t-H ZE=t-H
£l RHAM o WARTE ERTHE HATE ERTHE W AITE
Director 5 September 2008
B2 ZZZ)\ENATA 1872 200,000,000  (133,333,332) 66,666,668 — 66,666,668
Exercisable at
the end of year
RERATTRHE — 66,666,668

The options granted on 3 October 2006 were exercisable in
accordance with the following terms of the Scheme as to:

(i)  up to 6,704,000 of the options exercisable commencing
1 January 2008 to 31 December 2010, with vesting
period from 3 October 2006 to 31 December 2007, the
fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$1.0325;

(i) up to 14,008,000 of the options exercisable commencing
1 January 2009 to 31 December 2010, with vesting
period from 3 October 2006 to 31 December 2008, the
fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$1.1175; and

(i) up to 21,312,000 of the options exercisable commencing
1 January 2010 to 31 December 2010, with vesting
period from 3 October 2006 to 31 December 2009, the
fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$1.1725.
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

The options granted on 5 September 2008 may be exercised in
accordance with the following terms of the Scheme as to:

(i) upto 66,666,668 of the options exercisable commencing
1 September 2009 to 31 August 2013, with vesting
period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August 2009, the
fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$0.4075;

(i)  up to 133,333,332 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2010 to 31 August 2013, with
vesting period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August
2010, the fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$0.48; and

(i) up to 200,000,000 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2011 to 31 August 2013, with
vesting period from 5 September 2008 to 31 August
2011, the fair value of each option at the date of grant is
approximately HK$0.5325.

The exercise of the options during the exercise periods
described in (i), (ii) and (iii) above, commencing from 1
September 2009 to 31 August 2013, are subject to
achievement of pre-determined and specific profit targets for
the Group for each of the years ended 31 March 2009, 2010
and 2011, respectively.

The estimated total fair value with respect to share options
granted to directors and employees on 3 October 2006 and 5
September 2008 is HK$23,653,000 and HK$94,530,000,
respectively.

An amount of HK$6,112,000 was recognised in administrative
expenses as share-based payment expense for the year ended
31 March 2012 (2011: HK$32,046,000).

28.
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29.

30.

130

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the bank borrowings and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital and

various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

29. EXEEIRE

AEBERHEEANERAEEDN
ERUFELEEY  WEBKE
EARELAARESSAEARMR
= [E oo AN ER H H) B AR BUR A R
EFE e

AEENERAGEBRRBER  EF
BRETEEARAAREDRFA
AEE#DZ(BREBETRARZIA
&) -

ARREETHRIENER - 1F
BN EEBEEEN
RARAREZEBEABRAORER -
REEENEZ  AKESBBIK
MR ~ BT B LA A &
BOHEXERRETEEERE
AEERE -

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. T A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) eRMIEESR
2012 2011
—E——fF —E——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Financial assets BREE
Fair value through profit or loss NFEFFAER
— derivative financial instruments —TEERIT A 867 809
Loans and receivables (including cash EFkEKTE(BIERS
and cash equivalents) kIS ZEEY) 5,351,987 4,779,249
Financial liabilities BEAaE
Fair value through profit or loss NFEFFAER
— derivative financial instruments —PTESRmTITA 9,434 337
Derivatives under hedge accounting Hoga T2 mETA = 55,649
Amortised cost B85 R R 12,529,938 10,079,502
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 30. IR (#)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEEBEEENRBER

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loan to a
JCE, trade and other receivables, amounts due from (to)
related companies, derivative financial instruments,
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash, trade
and other payables, amount due to a substantial
shareholder, and bank borrowings. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The
risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. Management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures

are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

0 Currency risk
The Group has foreign currency transactions, which
expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.
Management monitor other foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider the use of

hedging instruments when the need arises.
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 30. €T A (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEEBEEEORBEK
policies (Continued) (%)
Market risk (Continued) M EE (&)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) EEEER(E)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s significant AEERBZEBLIENE
monetary assets and monetary liabilities, excluding HMEEERNEEEE
intercompany balances and derivative financial LEEEHEEREKA
instruments, that are denominated in currencies BRI RAREREITE
other than the functional currency of the relevant SRIARIN WEREE
group entities at the reporting dates are as follows: UM
Monetary assets (note): EmEE(ME)
2012 2011
=t Ltc Y T —4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
HK$ BT 375,997 428,889
us$ ETT 22,129 25,531
Monetary liabilities (note): a1&
2012 2011
= - 7
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
HK$ BT 877,996 1,828,062
uss$ ETT 51,317 35,032
note: The above amounts exclude HK$/US$ amounts where the e : Ll eBEABEEERERE
functional currency of the relevant group entities is US$/ M AZET HBITH
HK$ because HK$ is pegged to the US$, as a result of B ETLERE  ARE
which the exchange exposure is not significant. JCERSETHENME - A L

ERELRRE -

Sensitivity analysis BRE DT
The Group is primarily exposed to the fluctuation of AEEFEEHBTRE
HK$ and US$ against RMB. THAREREESTE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —ZE— —#F=H=+1—HI-F/F

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continueq)

Sensitivity analysis (Continuea)

The following tables detail the Group's sensitivity to
a 5% (2011: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies to the extent
that the exposures have not been hedged. 5%
(2011: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items (including
intercompany balances denominated in foreign
currencies) and derivative financial instruments and
adjusts their translation or fair value in the case of
the derivative financial instruments at the year
ended for a 5% change in foreign currency rates.
On this basis, there will be an increase/decrease in
post-tax profit where the functional currency of the
relevant group entities strengthens against the
foreign currencies by 5%, and vice versa.

30 T B (%)

(b)

HK$
us$

BT

eV

BYEMARAT 2011/12 £

BREREERNREE

(%)

EE1EAE )

(i) EEER(E)
FRE DM (E)
TR FE AN ER 8 3 S

FHEBEIERLT - BESE
EEE2NEEEEHE
BRANE EFARTE5%
T ——F :5%)HH
RRE - 5%(ZF——%F:
5% ) REAMEEERE
A B [E ) 51N & B 5 % R
WRRELE  AEEE
FLONESTE R K& IR ] g B
BIEL AT - URES
T RBEUINEFHER R
EBRNE%IER (BN
BEBEBZANIAEER)
MOTHESBM T A » TR
HERAEEXRKQAFE
(mAETE€mIR)
LA F2 B S T R B 5% %
Bo o ELMEET  EH
AEBEER I NEEEN
HNEFHES% » T 14 BT
HEIG A R Z IR
SR o

Increase (decrease)
in post-tax profit

HEBFIEMORD)
2012 2011
—E—_F —E——4%F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
28,675 72,889
1,267 386

133



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

134

(i)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEEBEEENRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) miZRER (&)
Currency risk (Continued)) () EMmEpb(E)
In addition, intercompany balances denominated in BEoN - AIEB A B AE 2K A ER
foreign currencies are as follows: LASNEESTEMT -
2012 2011
TE-CF Eeiaiacl
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Assets BE
us$ ETT 1,886,439 2,371,605
HK$ BT 239,077 269,718
RMB AR 45,803 49,906
Liabilities =R
Us$ ETT 1,886,439 2,371,605
HK$ BT 412,669 595,224

(ir)

30 T B (%)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances carry floating-rate of
interests and have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings. In
order to minimise the cash flow interest rate risk,
the Group entered into certain interest rate swaps
to partially hedge against its exposures to variable
interest-rate of bank borrowings in prior years. The
critical terms of these interest rate swaps were
similar to those of hedged borrowings. These
interest rate swaps were designated as effective
hedging instruments and hedge accounting was
used.

(if)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —ZE— —#F=H=+1—HI-F/F

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continueq)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate bank borrowings, to the
extent that they were not hedged by effective
instruments, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the end of the
reporting period was outstanding for the whole
year. A 50 basis points increase or decrease in
interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the

reasonably possible change in interest rates.

For bank borrowings at variable-rate without hedge
accounting of HK$9,559,313,000 (2011:
HK$6,648,606,000), if interest rate had been 50
basis points higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 March 2012 would decrease/
increase by HK$33,792,000 (2011: decrease/
increase by HK$23,916,000).

No sensitivity analysis for derivative financial
instruments has been presented because the

expected impact is insignificant.

30 T B (%)

(b)

BYEMARAT 2011/12 £

BREREERNREE

(&)

EE1EAE )

(i)

T &= = bz (48 )

BREE DT
THERE D ITIRBER
HEEBAIETETAMFIR
FREE o 37 BRITE
B EuEBEYHEHE
MIAEHH - SRR
RREHRKRESBER
2EHRARENMAER
S50 ZhiE sk iE 2 A
AR EZERABERF
X [E b R R A §URE L
X REEERMEHE
BRI E B AT -

# A& 8 9,559,313,000
B (ZZE — —F

6,648,606,0008 7T ) 2
BN 2R BRITE
BEmE  WAXLEA T
BRSO B - M ATA H A
SH@FTE  KEEEH
E-T——F=ZfF=+—
H 15 E 8B & 8GR
4/ #8 133,792,000 8
T(ZZE——F @b/
#123,916,000/87T) °

TEERTAZHREED

Rmes BESEY
SITEA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —E— _—#F=H=+1—HI-F/Z

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

136

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2012, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt
at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors consider that the

Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the

counterparties are banks with good reputation.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Accordingly, the Group’s concentration of credit risk is

considered minimal.

30 T B (%)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZ=F—=—F=A=1+—HI FEZE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 30 TR IT B (#)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEEBEEEORBEK

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the
Group’'s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following tables detail the Group's remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest and
principal cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are
floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate curve at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group’s
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted contractual net cash flows on derivative
instruments that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s
derivative financial instruments are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management consider
that the contractual maturities are essential for an
understanding of the timing of the cash flows of
derivatives.

(#)

MEEE R R
REERDERRBME - &
SEERRERERBRAR
AEEZERKES - AR
HATRENBTEZRER
ReEBYKE -

TR F R A 1 E ' R
REBVBEENRTAEHNE
HsﬁEl c BEMTEMBAEM
C TRIDBRBAKREERER
ﬁiE%DEZ%ﬁQ%*%
RRemEBIEL - B88ME -
W e B SKE R GE R Z IRITE
5 HERERERRZA
mﬁﬁ REEBTHEHE
Bl o HMIESTEMBEEZF
HERBERTHERXBD G
HeTREBENBEEERAEH
BIME ° Eﬁﬁﬁgt’ﬂ%
MEZBHME  RMBEEEK
BHEHROF KR -

O TRAMASEITES
MIAZREBUEDN - ZXRT
REBZFREENITET AN
RATBEHNFHEERENR -
il e 5t FRIB B E - BIPRT4 BR

RIETI2RN|E B RRITH
KH&Z/\H%‘?FE??@‘HU%U*FX
E o ARBREBEANIMBER
BTEemIENRS D
- AERERRENENEA
ETﬁE?/TiIﬂﬁfMLZHTFEJ
MBEERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conminueD) 30. €T A (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEEBEEEHRBEK
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRR(E)
Liquidity tables MEE 2K

Weighted Repayable
average  ondemand Total Carrying
effective  or less than 3 months Over undiscounted amount
interest rate 1month  1-3months to 1 year 1-5 years Syears  cashflows at31March
iy
ERRIZ  EEREXD =fiR *HB Z=A=1-H
mEFEE  SR-EA  -Z=fA E-F -E1% BBLE RERBAT ZIRAE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BAl TET TiEL TET TiET TET TiET TEL

2012 —5--f%
Non-derivative financial ~ F{T4£ BB EE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ~ EREZREM
- current i 1,256,002 1,173,978 533,016 2,962,999 2,962,999
Amount due to asubstantial TR F ERE
shareholders B 7,626 7,626 7,626
Bank borrowings RITEE
- variable rate %8 4 1,574,055 733,518 644,139 6,983,178 9,934,890 9,559,313
2,837,683 1,907,4% 1,177,155 6,983,181 12,905,515 12,529,938
Derivatives - net fTATA-FH8
settlement gLl
Interest rate swaps Fl &z h 6,398 3,186
6,398 EAL
201 -2--f
Non-derivative financial ¥4 BB A E
liabilities
Trade and other payables EREHREM
&R
- current -8 — 1,532,375 548,055 10,466 — — 2,090,896 2,090,896
Bank borrowings BITEE
- variable rate —2E 2.59 746,831 589,054 1,301,836 5,666,573 1,552 8,305,846 7,988,606
2,279,206 1,137,109 1,312,302 5,666,573 1,552 10,396,742 10,079,502
Derivatives - net fTEIE-38
settlement Rl
Interest rate swaps Fl&im 494 — 9,924 29,375 18,731 — 58,030 55,649
Foreign currency forward INEREAY
contracts - 119 218 - - — 337 337
119 10,142 29,375 18,731 — 58,367 55,986
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 BZ=F—=—F=A=1+—HI FEZE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD)

30 T B (%)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BIEEBEEEHRBEK
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRR(E)
Liquidity tables (Continued) TENE DK (&)
Bank borrowings subject to repayment on demand clause Bt 75 JE SR B BURR 2 RITHE
based on scheduled repayments: ERHEEENRD
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause B 75 FE SRR B R 2 SRIT 1B
are included in the “on demand or less than 1 month” B LB A B o5 Er Al E
time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March ERERSIDR—EA 2 H
2012 and 31 March 2011, the aggregate carrying M-RZE—ZF=ZA=+—
amounts of these bank loans amounted to =| &: Z-——F=ZA=+—

HK$1,504,973,000 and HK$635,474,000 respectively. CRERTERZEDRE
% EJ;%1,504,973,000;%71&
635,474,000 7T © & EEI A
SEHMBMRR  EEHE
RIT TR BEITERERE 2
kAR EBEEER - B4

Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the
directors do not believe that it is probable that the banks
will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The directors believe that such
bank loans will be repaid in accordance with the

following scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan B ZERTEEBBRBER
agreements: EME B EERB BRER
LU
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than 3 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1month  1-3 months to 1 year cash flows amount
BRA= =f@R KRR
mETEE SR—EA —Z={8A Z2-F HEREAF IREE
% HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Aol TER TER TER FTHET FTHET
As at 31 March 2012 WZE—=F
—A=+—H 2.21 850,520 417,992 269,722 1,538,234 1,504,973
As at 31 March 2011 RIT——%F
=A=+—H 2.59 216,157 348,613 87,163 651,933 635,474
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —E— _—#F=H=+1—HI-F/Z

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTivueD) 30. IR (#)

(c) Fair value () 2¥E

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities

are determined as follows:

o the fair values of derivative financial instruments
are calculated using discounted cash flow analysis
based on the applicable yield curves of interest
rates and foreign exchange rates as determined by

counterparty financial institutions.

o the fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments)
are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash

flow analysis.

The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 2 based on

the degree to which the fair value is observable.

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market

for identical assets or liabilities.

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly

(i.e. derived from prices).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 30. €T A (&)
(c) Fair value (Continued) () D¥EE)
Fair value measurements recognised in the EF BT ER 2 AT EE
statement of financial position (Continued) =(#&)

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived -
from valuation techniques that include inputs for
the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data (unobservable inputs).

E=MAFEAEREBL
ERLIFENAERTS
(TABRZEH) 2

B EETZAE

31 March
2012
Level 2
—E—C—F
=A=+—H
EH
HK$'000
THET
Financial assets at fair value ATETFABERZ
through profit or loss BMiEEE
Derivative financial instruments MTESBMIA
Financial liabilities at fair value RAFEEIAEBHEZ
through profit or loss BEasE

Derivative under hedge accounting ¥ &t THETAE T A
SEX R E R EMIT A
accounting TA

Other derivatives not under hedge

There were no transfer between the 3 levels during
the year. % o

31 March
2011
Level 2

HK$'000
TR

809

55,649

337

FA - Z@EARHNLESE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Z—=Z—=

31.

32.

142

B35 AR MY R (4R)
FEA=t—AUEE

DISPOSAL OF AN ASSOCIATE

On 7 June 2010, the Group entered into agreements with
Resource Management Service, LLC (“RMS”), an independent
third party, whereby the Group’s entire investment in, and an
amount of HK$400,112,000 due from, Fortune Sight Group
Limited (“FSGL"), would be disposed to RMS, for a
consideration of approximately HK$421,843,000. The disposal
was completed on 29 October 2010 and a gain on disposal of
approximately HK$21,731,000 was recognised during year
ended 31 March 2011.

OPERATING LEASES
The Group as lessee

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings,
which fall due as follows:

32.

;ﬁ—gi SAER - AEER

= 77 Resource Management
Serwce, LLC([RMS ]) % 5] =&
LA #7421,843,000 B TR B I &
ARAAREBEEEERAA(E
ZEzraMREREEMRRA
400,112 000;%7E%R|v|s ° Hj%“
HGR_ZE—ZFFFTA-TNAR
B Hj%uﬁzﬁ%@21,731,ooo>%ne
RE&EZz_ZEZ——F=A=+—H1
FEANHER -

EEAL

SEERABA

REERR - NEERET A HH
M REFREEONAREN
W EBRSMT

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEERFA
After five years FRFER

2012 2011
= T 7
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT FTAT
10,024 5,879
23,965 20,486
243,698 239,430
277,687 265,795

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for lands and certain of its office properties. For lands,
leases are negotiated for terms ranged from one year to fifty
years with fixed rentals. For office properties, leases are
negotiated for terms ranged from 6 months to 1 year with
fixed rentals.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. BAREIE
2012 2011
—E—_F —E——4%F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FAET
Capital expenditures contracted for but FLE 5T 4B KRR ERE MG IRE
not provided in the consolidated BEAETIEEN
financial statements in respect of BEARRAXL
acquisition of:
- property, plant and equipment o E N 1,629,568 2,326,221
— land use rights — b A 173,937 169,771
1,803,505 2,495,992
In addition, for the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group had oy RBE_T-—_F=R=
a commitment to provide a loan of HK$37,400,000 to a jointly T—RLEFE AEBEARRKT
controlled entity. 37,400,000 T2 ERX T —HRFAE
HEE -
34. NON-CASH TRANSACTION 34. kRERS
For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group's acquisition of REBEEZFTE——F=ZA=+—HI1
property, plant and equipment was settled through transfer of FE AEBBEVE BELR
deposits paid in the prior years to the extent of HK$82,024,000 #,282,024,0008 T (=T ——4F :
(2011: HK$20,690,000). 20,690,000 7T ) 5 ¢ @8 £ F £ &Y

BENETE2EA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

35. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 35. BERMEBALTESE
DISCLOSURES
During the year, the Group had significant transactions with FN - AEEEEBRAT(ETAL
related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be MERRE TR R AR 1E AR E
connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. Significant ADVETEARARS - FR - BZE
transactions with these parties during the year are as follows: ATHETHEARZFOAT :
(@) Connected and related party transactions (a) BEERMBEEALRS
2012 2011
Nature of —E-C—F —T——fF
Name of party transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALTRE REME THET FEL
LMIML (as defined in note 20) Finished goods sold EEPERE TR
BYEX(TEAN20) by the Group 139,473 126,781
Income from steamand ~ BEEFIR
electricity EWPRON 4,075 3,039
Raw material purchased £ @8 B R
by the Group 2,405 1,742
Lee & Man Paper Products Licence fee expenses SEFAEE N
Limited (note) 980
B R BRAR (M)
Jiangsu Chemical Income from steamand ~ RREE R K
(as defined in note 20) electricity BHZWA
TEME T (& 8 KiE20) 59,615
Raw materials purchased & BB E R}
by the Group 15,502
Rental income Ae WA —
note: The company is indirectly wholly owned by a daughter of Mr Lee M5t RRARARNAAEE R&EXRER
Wan Keung Patrick, a director and the ultimate controlling BRZTEREEZLAREEZE
shareholder of the Company. wa -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —E— _—#F=H=+1—HI-F/Z

35. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 35. ENMHEBALEE®)
DISCLOSURES (continueD)
(b) Related party transactions (b) HEALRS
2012 2011
Nature of —E-——fF —E——f
Name of party transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
HBALEE RZME TER THET
FSGL (as defined in note 31) Interest income B A
BE(EERME3) 6,691
Compensation of key management personnel TEEEEBHEHM
The remunerations of the directors and other members of EEREMFBZERENER
key management during the year were as follows: FAZMESIAT :
2012 2011
—E——F [l
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHT
Short-term benefits RHER 12,506 11,522
Post-employment benefits RIKER 34 60
Share based payments A& #E S < 5B 6,112 32,046
18,652 43,628
(c) Related party balances () rEEEANL#ER
Details of the Group's outstanding balances with related REERBEBAT ZREES
parties are set out in the consolidated statement of REFBEEHIINEGEE AR
financial position and note 20. = MHIEE20 ©
(d) Connected party transaction and balance (d) BEATXZRESS
2012 2011
Nature of —E-C—F —T——fF
Name of party transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
HBALEE REME TER THET
Nippon Paper Technical assistance fee EERMBERE
AZRRA, expense by the Group T 17,065 —
Details of the Group's outstanding balance with the AEBHEBEA LT REELS
connected party are set out in the consolidated statement BREFIBE I R ERE B AR &
of financial position and note 20. K HIEE20 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE =~ 36. AR BB #5ik iR &

COMPANY
A condensed statement of financial position of the Company as LNTAERRBRZE-—ZF=ZH=
at 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011 is as follows: +—BER=ZTE——F=ZA=+—H
2 R AR R R

2012 2011

e = F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FABTT

Investment in subsidiaries BB R REE 637,977 637,977

Other receivables JrE AT EL A BR 3R — 14,137

Amounts due from subsidiaries BB~ R R R 8,329,716 6,771,718

Bank balances RITERR 338 230

Total assets BE®RE 8,968,031 7,424,062

Derivative financial instruments TESBmI A 9,434 55,649

Amount due to a subsidiary fE X — R B~ R FRIR 278 502,576

Other payables FE T E AR BR 3K 8,955 7,069

Unsecured bank borrowings EIXFIRITEE 3,439,888 1,340,000

Total liabilities BE®E 3,458,555 1,905,294

5,509,476 5,518,768

Share capital P& 2 117,241 117,241

Reserves & 5,392,235 5,401,527

Total equity B 5,509,476 5,518,768
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2012 B ZF —E— —#F=H=+—HI-F/F

OF THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March
2012 and 31 March 2011 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/
establishment/registration
and operations

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Nominal value of
issued and fully paid
share capital/
registered capital

37. KRB EEMB R RFE

ARAEEMBRARIR-F —=F
ZA=Et+-BR=ZF-——F=AZ=
T—BERFRET

Proportion ownership interest

Name of subsidiary HMRY R/ ERTRUZRAEE held by the Company Principal activities
HEAR AR BEREELY EfER ARRBEREHERELL TEER
Directly Indirectly
B i
2011
—z g

Able Advance International
Limited

Lee & Man Industries Company
Limited

Vantage Dragon Limited
HEAERRA

Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial
Offshore) Trading Limited
FECRMBFEERE)ES

BRAT

Wang Kei (Macao Commercial
Offshore) Trading Limited
RECRMBREERE)ES

BRAR

RRESCERBERAT

(Dongguan Lee & Man Paper
Factory Co., Ltd.)

(“Dongguan Lee & Man")

(TREEx])

BREERERAR

(Guangdong Lee & Man Paper
Manufacturing Limited)

("Guangdong Lee & Man”)
(TE=2X])

THIECERBR AR

(Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper
Manufacturing Company
Limited)

(“Jiangsu Lee & Man”)
(h1#=x])

British Virgin Islands (note i)
ERELES (M)

British Virgin Islands (note i)
EERLHS (M)

Hong Kong
BE

Macau

BP9

Macau
P!

PRC (note ii)
I (i)

PRC (note ii)
B (P2 )

PRC (note ii)
A (P

Ordinary shares — US$4
LRk 4%

Ordinary share — US$1
LER-1ET

Ordinary share — HK$2
Twik-28T

MOP100,000
JBF9%100,0007T

MOP100,000
JEPI#100,0007T

Registered capital
— US$156,480,000
AR
—156,480,000% T

Registered capital
— US$530,000,000
BRIEEN
—530,000,000% T

Registered capital
— US$363,000,000
EMER
—363,000,000% 7T

—  Investment holding

RE#%

100%  Investment holding
RAER

100%  Investment holding
REER

100%  Procurement of
raw materials

100%  Export trading of
paper
RELDES

100%  Manufacturing and
trading of paper

100%  Manufacturing and
trading of paper
FRAEERES

100%  Manufacturing and
trading of paper
RELERES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #ZF —ZE— —F=H=+—HI-F/F

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 37. KRB EEMBRRFE (&)
OF THE COMPANY (conTINUED)

Nominal value of
Place of incorporation/ issued and fully paid
establishment/registration share capital/

and operations registered capital Proportion ownership interest
Name of subsidiary HEmKL/ R/ EETREZRAEE held by the Company Principal activities
iy PR BRREELY AmER ARAREREREELH TEER
Directly Indirectly
Ef i
2011
FF

EEECERARAR PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Chongging Lee & Man Paper R B (P35 — US$420,260,000 trading of paper

Manufacturing Limited) AR REAERES
(“Chongging Lee & Man") —420,260,000% 7T

([E=EE)
TEESGERERAR PRC (note i) Registered capital 100%  Manufacturing and
(Jiangxi Lee & Man Paper A (Bt i) — US$100,000,000 trading of paper

Manufacturing Company FRER REEERES

Limited) —100,000,000% 7T
NITFEAAREBRAE  PRC (hote i) Registered capital 100%  Consulting service
(Jujiang Vantage Dragon R (W) — HK$2,400,000 ERRE

Consulting Service Limited) HMER

—2,400,000%7C

Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Vietnam US$64,478,874 100%  Manufacturing and

Manufacturing Limited i 64,478 8745 T trading of paper

REAERES

Vietnam Lee & Man Pulp Vietnam US$13,910,561 100%  Manufacturing and

Manufacturing Limited i 13,910,561 T trading of pulp

AREERES
Notes: B aE
(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong. (i) ZENREEBEE -
(i) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the (i) ZERAREPEKLZIIERE DR
PRC. E

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in ERINLBESFRAETEFELRE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or XEIEEEBENARAIMNE
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other NAl - BEFRA  HNHEMKEBA
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in AMFEBEEARFEERATTE @ &
particulars of excessive length. REVNEHZEEH -
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at REZEBSFRNEMER - 0B
the end of the year, or at any time during the year. AEBEEAREENEBRES
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Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited

5th Floor, Liven House, 61-63 King Yip Street
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel: 2319 9889 Fax: 2319 9393
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